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Some things never change.
Our commitment to innovation, our 

business strategy, our vision for the 

future. These principles form the 

foundation on which we’ve built a 

legacy of leadership, solid fi nancial 

performance, and long-term value 

creation.

It seems everywhere we turn these days, things are changing.

Volatility is at an all time high.

Today’s media is fi lled with stories about how the subprime debacle is disrupting our economy. 

Every day seems to be a new day with more bad news.
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Camden’s strategic tools to battle the 
subprime turmoil and the economic slowdown.

1.
fi nancial strength
and stability

3.
solid earnings
growth

10.
FORTUNE 100
Best Companies 
to Work For®

9.
inclusion in the S&P MidCap 400

8.
redevelopment

7.
capital recycling

2.
consistent
performance
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6.
stock buybacks Subprime Toolkit

4.
joint ventures

We are committed to our core strategies and company values. The We are committed to our core strategies and company values. The 

economic environment is changing rapidly; we adapt our approach, economic environment is changing rapidly; we adapt our approach, 

but never compromise our underlying principles. Every step of the but never compromise our underlying principles. Every step of the 

way, we remember who we are and what we stand for.way, we remember who we are and what we stand for.

5.
ancillary income



Consistent performance2Consistent performance2Consistent performance

Strong investment grade ratings

Standard & Poor’s   BBB+

Fitch  BBB+

Moody’s  Baa1

1

7-Year Performance
outperformed key market indices

This graph assumes the investment of $100 on December 31, 2000
and quarterly reinvestment of dividends.  (Source: NAREIT)
This graph assumes the investment of $100 on December 31, 2000
and quarterly reinvestment of dividends.  (Source: NAREIT)
This graph assumes the investment of $100 on December 31, 2000

Financial strength and stability

Our ratings refl ect strong company performance, the quality and diversity of 
our portfolio, expected earnings stability, and our commitment to maintaining 
long-term fi nancial fl exibility.

Camden

NAREIT
Equity Index

Russell 2000
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3 We have proven our ability to perform consistently through all cycles 
in the economy and real estate markets.

History of strong execution 
and solid earnings growth
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Building success through 
strategic joint ventures

Joint ventures remain a core component of 

our overall strategy. These collaborations 

allow us to leverage our operating platform, 

minimize risk, and reduce our fi nancing 

commitments. Over the years, we have 

successfully utilized joint ventures for 

development and dispositions. Our focus 

is now on identifying acquisition and 

development opportunities for Camden’s new 

Multifamily Value Add Fund. Multifamily Value Add Fund. 

4Building success through4Building success through
strategic joint ventures4strategic joint ventures
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Ancillary income
through the use 
of creative technology

Perfect Connection

$7-8 million 
annual profi tability in 2008

Perfect Connection is Camden’s cable TV 
program which provides expanded service 
packages to our residents at a discount. 

Valet Waste
turning trash 

into cash

$2 million

The Valet Waste 
program offers 
door-to-door trash 
pickup for our 
residents. It is one 
of many initiatives 
to provide excellent 
customer service.

annual profi tability by 2009

5
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Our share repurchase program provides the opportunity to acquire 

Camden’s common shares at attractive prices and signifi cant discounts 

to Net Asset Value. During 2007 and early 2008, we repurchased 

4.3 million common shares at an average price per share of $53.59, 

for a total of $230.1 million. The program is leverage neutral and 

funded primarily through property dispositions.

stock buybacks
Our share repurchase program provides the opportunity to acquire 

Camden’s common shares at attractive prices and signifi cant discounts 

to Net Asset Value. During 2007 and early 2008, we repurchased 

4.3 million common shares at an average price per share of $53.59, 

for a total of $230.1 million. The program is leverage neutral and 

6stock buybacks6stock buybacks
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Capital recycling
in 2007

$176.4 million$176.4 million$176.4 million$176.4 million
sold

$83.9 million$83.9 million$83.9 million$83.9 million
acquiredacquired

During 2007, we disposed of 10 apartment 
communities with an average age of 26 
years and acquired two communities with an 
average age of four years. Asset recycling 
provides us with capital to pay down debt, 
repurchase stock, fund new developments, 

7Capital recycling7Capital recycling
in 20077in 2007

and invest in future opportunities with higher 
growth potential. This program allows us to 
maintain a high quality portfolio as we exit 
non-core markets and trim our exposure to 
older, more capital-intensive assets within 
our core markets.



The redevelopment program provides interior and exterior 

improvements including upgraded kitchens, baths and common 

areas, enabling us to raise rents faster and strengthen the 

competitive position of these communities.

Redevelopment of 10 communities with 3,512 apartment homes.
Expected return on investment of over 9%.

Making it nicer!

88
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added Camden to the S&P MidCap 400 Index

The S&P MidCap 400 is an index of companies 
with market capitalizations between $2 billion and 
$10 billion.

9
STANDARD
&POOR’S



MAGAZINE
awarded Camden their prestigious
2008 FORTUNE 100 Best Companies 
to Work For®

10And to top it all...
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At this time last year, Camden was celebrating record performance achieved in 
2006 and looking forward to a promising 2007.  How quickly things can change.  
Few people would have predicted the swift deterioration of economic conditions 
and turmoil which beset the credit markets in mid-2007.  Headlines regarding 
the subprime mortgage crisis and billion dollar write-downs by Wall Street’s 
largest financial institutions have become pervasive, and negative sentiment 
surrounds both real estate and financial stocks.  However, amidst this volatility 
and uncertain economic environment, one thing has remained unchanged 
– Camden’s commitment to its core strategies and company values.

We focus on maintaining a high-quality, geographically diverse portfolio of 
apartment homes located in the highest growth markets across the United 
States; we continually improve the quality of our portfolio through capital 
recycling, using asset sales to fund acquisitions, development and share 
repurchases; we capitalize on opportunities to expand our operating platform 
through joint ventures; we adhere to conservative financial policies, which 
provide us with ample liquidity and financial flexibility; and we strive to maintain 
a positive, dynamic work environment with a team that is truly committed to 
being the best. 

Camden has an experienced management team that has weathered several 
market downturns over the years. While 2006 set records for same property 
operating performance, our 2007 performance was still strong with 5.1% same 
property net operating income (“NOI”) growth achieved. In 2008 we anticipate a 
slower growth environment, returning to our long-term average same property 
NOI growth rate of around 3%, but we do not expect to see NOI decline as it did 
in the prior economic downturn from 2002 through 2004.

Overall, apartment fundamentals are still relatively healthy. Demand for rental 
housing remains intact due to a growing “Echo Boom” population, positive 
immigration trends, and declining home ownership rates stemming from 
tighter lending standards and negative sentiment surrounding home purchases. 
Although job growth in 2008 is predicted to slow significantly from the levels 
we have seen over the past few years, Camden’s markets should continue to 
outperform the U.S. averages for both job and population growth.

On the supply side, multifamily starts are projected to fall 25% to 30% in 2008 to 
the lowest levels seen in 15 years, and new construction of single family homes 
and condominiums is also down sharply.  With U.S. home prices continuing 
to fall and the risk of recession looming, this trend may continue throughout 

To Our Shareholders
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2008 and into 2009. Nevertheless, an excess supply of single 
family homes and condominiums currently exists in many of our 
markets, and vacant homes and condos are clearly competing 
with our apartments as rental housing in many cases.  This excess 
supply must be absorbed before we can regain pricing power and 
achieve meaningful revenue growth in these challenged markets.  
The expected reduction in new supply along with sustained 
demand for rental housing should help us to work through to 
more favorable conditions over the next 12 to 18 months.

We are armed with many strategic tools which will help us 
navigate through today’s changing environment:

Financial Strength & Stability
Challenging capital market conditions have placed a premium 
on liquidity in today’s environment.  Camden is well-positioned, 
with a strong balance sheet and access to a variety of capital 
sources with attractive long-term rates.  During 2007 we took 
advantage of low interest rates and completed $800 million of 
new unsecured financing at a weighted average interest rate 
of 5.4%.  With only $200 million of debt maturities in both 2008 
and 2009 and substantial availability remaining on our $600 
million unsecured line of credit, we have ample liquidity to meet 
our funding obligations and make strategic investments as 
opportunities arise.

Technology & Ancillary Income Initiatives
Camden is known for creating innovative ways to enhance 
revenues and improve our customer service.  In 2006 we launched 
The Perfect Connection, a cable TV initiative which will provide 
$7 to $8 million in annual profitability by the end of 2008.  We 
followed that with our Valet Waste program, a door-to-door trash 
pickup service which will add $2 million in annual profitability by 
the end of 2009.  We also look for ways to increase efficiency and 
productivity at our communities, enabling our onsite teams to 
focus on providing great customer service to our residents.  Some 
of the most recent programs designed to streamline our business 
processes include online leasing, check scanners, and online 
payment options.

Richard J. Campo

Chairman  and 

Chief Executive Offi cer
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Stock Buybacks
Significant discounts currently exist between public and private 
valuations of multifamily assets, and we are taking advantage 
of this arbitrage by repurchasing Camden’s common shares at 
attractive prices and substantial discounts to Net Asset Value.  
During 2007 and early 2008, we acquired 4.3 million common 
shares at an average price per share of $53.59, for a total of 
$230.1 million.  The program is leverage neutral and funded 
primarily through property dispositions. 

Capital Recycling
During 2007, we disposed of 10 apartment communities with 
an average age of 26 years and average monthly rental rates 
of $621 per apartment home, realizing over $170 million in 
sales proceeds.  We re-invested $84 million into two new 
communities with an average age of four years and average 
monthly rental rates of $1,157 per apartment home, and used 
the remaining funds to retire debt, repurchase stock and fund 
new developments.  These transactions improved the quality 
of our portfolio, allowed us to exit slower growth non-core 
markets in the Midwest and Greensboro, NC, and reduced our 
exposure to older, more capital-intensive assets within our 
core markets.

In 2008 we will continue our process of asset recycling and 
expect to sell more communities, using some of the proceeds 
to make opportunistic investments through Camden’s new 
Multifamily Value Add Fund (the “Fund”).  The Fund will be our 
exclusive vehicle for acquisitions, and will facilitate several 
new development projects as well.  We have a proven track 
record of creating successful joint venture relationships, 
leveraging our existing operating platform, and earning high 
returns on our invested capital. We expect that the Fund will 
provide additional opportunities for us to create value for our 
partners and our shareholders.

Development & Redevelopment
Development has been a core competency for Camden 
throughout our history.  We have always taken a conservative, 

D. Keith Oden

President
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disciplined approach to underwriting new projects. We complete 
a detailed analysis for each potential development opportunity, 
thoroughly examining the costs, benefits, risks and returns.  
In 2008 we plan to utilize joint venture structures for some of 
our new projects to mitigate risk and preserve capital, and our 
construction deliveries will be timed to occur when economic 
conditions are improving.

We continued to make strides in 2007 with our redevelopment 
program, updating the interiors of many of our apartment 
homes with new counter tops, cabinets and upgraded kitchen 
and bath fixtures.  This program increases the overall value of 
our repositioned assets by increasing their revenue stream and 
lowering their market cap rate.  It also provides an excellent 
return on investment with expected yields of over 9%, and we 
will evaluate additional assets for this program in 2008.

Excellence in the Workplace
In a year where good news was sometimes hard to come by, we 
received two extraordinary pieces of good news. First, for the 
third straight year Camden was named one of the Best Places 
to Work in Texas, with our highest ranking yet at number seven. 
Second, Camden was named to Fortune® Magazine’s list of the 
100 Best Companies to Work For, with a ranking of number 
50. This recognition is the gold standard of company awards 
for employee satisfaction and maintaining a great workplace. 
The award was made possible by our 1,800 employees who 
passionately share our commitment to making Camden a 
great place to work. We offer a special thank you to Camden’s 
employees for helping us create a culture where people love to 
come to work each and every day.

We have all the right tools for success: a sound business plan, 
consistent strategy, focus on company values, and commitment 
to being the best multifamily company in the industry.  We 
will stay the course and continue to deliver on our promise of 
creating consistent growth and long-term shareholder value.

On behalf of the entire Camden team, we thank you for your 
confidence in us and support of our company.  We look forward 
to facing the challenges and opportunities that await us in 2008 
and beyond.

Richard J. Campo
Chairman and 

Chief Executive Offi cer

D. Keith Oden
PresidentRespectfully,
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The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidated fi nancial statements and notes appearing 
elsewhere in this report.  Historical results and trends which might appear in the consolidated fi nancial statements 
should not be interpreted as being indicative of future operations.

We consider portions of this report to be “forward-looking” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act 
of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, both as amended, with respect to our expectations 
for future periods.  Forward-looking statements do not discuss historical fact, but instead include statements related 
to expectations, projections, intentions or other items relating to the future.  Although we believe the expectations 
refl ected in our forward-looking statements are based upon reasonable assumptions, we can give no assurance our 
expectations will be achieved.  Any statements contained herein that are not statements of historical fact should be 
deemed forward-looking statements.  Reliance should not be placed on these forward-looking statements as they are 
subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors beyond our control and could differ materially from 
our actual results and performance.   

Factors that may cause our actual results or performance to differ materially from those contemplated by forward-
looking statements include, but are not limited to, the following:

• Insuffi cient cash fl ows could affect our ability to make required payments for debt obligations or pay distributions to 
shareholders and create refi nancing risk;

• Unfavorable changes in economic conditions could adversely impact occupancy or rental rates;
• We have signifi cant debt, which could have important adverse consequences;
• Volatility in debt markets could adversely impact future acquisitions and values of real estate assets;
• Various changes could adversely impact the market price of our common shares; 
• Development and construction risks could impact our profi tability; 
• Our property acquisition strategy may not produce the cash fl ows expected; 
• Diffi culties of selling real estate could limit our fl exibility; 
• Variable rate debt is subject to interest rate risk; 
• Issuances of additional debt or equity may adversely impact our fi nancial condition;
• Losses from catastrophes may exceed our insurance coverage;
• Potential liability for environmental contamination could result in substantial costs;
• Tax matters, including failure to qualify as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) could have adverse 

consequences;
• Investments through joint ventures and partnerships involve risks not present in investments in which we are the 

sole investor;
• We face risks associated with investment in and management of a discretionary fund;
• Our dependence on our key personnel;
• We may incur losses on interest rate hedging arrangements;
• Competition could limit our ability to lease apartments or increase or maintain rental income; and
• Changes in laws and litigation risks could affect our business.

These forward-looking statements represent our estimates and assumptions as of the date of this report.  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Based on our results for the year ended December 31, 2007 and the projected economic conditions, we expect 
moderating growth during 2008.  Economic factors affecting our revenue include declining job growth and continued 
population growth and household formations in the markets in which we operate, as well as declining fundamentals in 
the for-sale single-family housing market.  Negative sentiment currently surrounding single-family housing could have 
a positive impact on multifamily demand, as more potential home buyers choose to rent and existing renters extend 
their stays in apartment homes.  However, high inventories of unsold single-family homes in select markets could cause 
further declines in home prices, making home buying a more attractive option for some renters or resulting in additional 
single-family homes becoming rental units.
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We intend to look for opportunities to acquire existing communities through our investment in and management of a 
discretionary investment fund.  During its term, which will end eight years from the fi nal closing, subject to two one-
year extensions, the Fund will be our exclusive investment vehicle for acquiring fully developed multifamily properties, 
subject to certain exceptions.  We expect market concentration risk to be mitigated as our property operations are not 
centralized in any one market and our portfolio of apartment communities are geographically diverse.  We also intend 
to continue focusing on our development pipeline with approximately $2.0 billion to $2.5 billion in our current and future 
development pipelines.  Total projected capital costs and the commencement of future developments may be impacted 
by increasing construction costs and other factors.

Property Portfolio
Our multifamily property portfolio, excluding land held for future development and joint venture properties which we do 
not manage, is summarized as follows:

DECEMBER 31, 2007 DECEMBER 31, 2006
APARTMENT HOMES PROPERTIES APARTMENT HOMES PROPERTIES

Operating Properties          
  Las Vegas, Nevada 8,064 30 8,064 30
  Dallas, Texas (1) 7,225 18 7,773 21
  Houston, Texas 6,346 15 5,696 13
  Tampa, Florida 5,503 12 5,635 12
  Washington, D.C. Metro 4,525 13 3,834 11
  Charlotte, North Carolina 3,574 15 4,146 17
  Orlando, Florida 3,296 8 3,296 8
  Atlanta, Georgia 3,202 10 3,202 10
  Austin, Texas 2,778 9 2,525 8
  Raleigh, North Carolina 2,704 7 2,704 7
  Denver, Colorado 2,529 8 2,529 8
  Southeast Florida 2,520 7 2,520 7
  Phoenix, Arizona 2,433 8 2,433 8
  Los Angeles/Orange County, California 2,191 5 2,191 5
  San Diego/Inland Empire, California 1,196 4 846 3
  Other  4,999 13 6,449 18
   Total Operating Properties 63,085 182 63,843 186
Properties Under Development          
  Washington, D.C. Metro 1,543 4 2,237 6
  Houston, Texas 733 3 650 2
  Austin, Texas 556 2 - -
  Los Angeles/Orange County, California 290 1 290 1
  Orlando, Florida 261 1 261 1
  San Diego/Inland Empire, California  - - 350 1
   Total Properties Under Development 3,383 11 3,788 11
   Total Properties 66,468 193 67,631 197
Less: Joint Venture Properties(2)          
  Las Vegas, Nevada 4,047 17 4,047 17
  Houston, Texas 1,946 6 1,487 4
  Phoenix, Arizona 992 4 992 4
  Los Angeles/Orange County, California 711 2 711 2
  Washington, D.C. Metro 508 1 508 1
  Dallas, Texas 456 1 456 1
  Denver, Colorado 320 1 320 1
  Other  3,237 9 3,237 9
   Total Joint Venture Properties 12,217 41 11,758 39
Total Properties Owned 100% 54,251 152 55,873 158

(1) Effective January 1, 2007, the operations of two adjacent properties were combined.
(2) Refer to Note 8, “Investments in Joint Ventures” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of our joint venture investments.

6,449
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Stabilized Communities
We consider a property stabilized once it reaches 90% occupancy.  During the year ended December 31, 2007, 
stabilization was achieved at four completed properties as follows:

Acquisition Communities
During April 2007, we acquired Camden South Congress, a 253-apartment home community located in Austin, Texas 
for $42.8 million and during June 2007 we acquired Camden Royal Palms, a 352-apartment home community located 
in Tampa, Florida for $41.1 million.  Both properties were purchased with proceeds using our unsecured line of credit.  
The purchase prices of these properties were allocated to the tangible and intangible assets and liabilities acquired 
based on their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition.

Dispositions and Partial Sales to Joint Ventures Included in Continuing Operations
During the year ended December 31, 2006, we recognized gains of $91.5 million from the partial sale of nine 
properties to an affi liated unconsolidated joint venture.  This partial sale generated net proceeds of approximately 
$170.9 million.  During the year ended December 31, 2005, we recognized gains of $132.1 million from the partial sales 
of twelve properties to twelve affi liated unconsolidated joint ventures.  These partial sales generated net proceeds of 
approximately $316.8 million.  The gains recognized on the partial sales of these assets were included in continuing 
operations as we retained a partial interest in the ventures which own these assets.  

During the year ended December 31, 2006, we recognized gains of $0.5 million and $4.7 million on the partial sales of 
land to two joint ventures located in Houston, Texas and College Park, Maryland, respectively.  The gains recognized 
on the sales of these assets were included in continuing operations as we retained a partial interest in the ventures 
which own these assets.  

During the year ended December 31, 2006, we recognized a gain of $0.8 million on the sale of land located adjacent 
to one of our pre-development assets in College Park, Maryland.  During the year ended December 31, 2005, we 
recognized a gain of $0.8 million on the sale of land located adjacent to one of our pre-development assets in 
Houston, Texas.  Also during 2005, we sold undeveloped land located in Dallas, Texas to an unrelated third party.  In 
connection with our decision to sell this undeveloped land, we recognized an impairment loss of $0.3 million.  These 
transactions were included in continuing operations as the cash fl ows from these land parcels were not separately 
identifi able from the cash fl ows generated by the adjacent pre-development assets.   

Discontinued Operations
We intend to maintain a strategy of managing our invested capital through the selective sale of properties and to 
utilize the proceeds to fund investments with higher anticipated growth prospects in our markets.  Income from 
discontinued operations includes the operations of properties, including land, sold during the period or classifi ed as 
held for sale as of December 31, 2007.  The components of earnings classifi ed as discontinued operations include 
separately identifi able property-specifi c revenues, expenses, depreciation and interest expense, if any.  The gain on 
the disposal of the held for sale properties is also classifi ed as discontinued operations.  

PROPERTY AND LOCATION NUMBER OF APARTMENT HOMES DATE OF COMPLETION DATE OF STABILIZATION

Camden Fairfax Corner
Fairfax, VA 488 3Q06 1Q07

Camden Manor Park
Raleigh, NC 484 3Q06 2Q07

Camden Clearbrook
Frederick, MD 297 1Q07 2Q07

Camden Westwind
Ashburn, VA 464 2Q06 3Q07
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A summary of our 2007 dispositions and properties held for sale as of December 31, 2007 is as follows:

During the year ended December 31, 2007, we received net proceeds of approximately $166.4 million and recognized 
gains of $106.3 million from the sale of the ten operating properties listed above to unaffi liated third parties.  During 
the year ended December 31, 2006, we received net proceeds of approximately $137.3 million and recognized gains of 
$78.8 million from the sale of eight operating properties, containing 3,041 apartment homes, to unaffi liated third parties. 
During the year ended December 31, 2005, we received net proceeds of approximately $125.1 million and recognized 
a gain of $36.1 million on the sale of three operating properties, containing 1,317 apartment homes, to unaffi liated third 
parties. 

Upon our decision to abandon efforts to develop certain land parcels and to market the parcels as held for sale, we 
reclassifi ed the operating expenses associated with those assets to discontinued operations.  At December 31, 2007, 
we had several undeveloped land parcels classifi ed as held for sale as follows:

($ in millions)    
PROPERTY AND LOCATION NUMBER OF APARTMENT HOMES DATE OF DISPOSITION YEAR BUILT NET BOOK VALUE (1)

Dispositions
Camden Taravue

St. Louis, MO 304 2Q07 1975 n/a
Camden Trace

Maryland Heights, MO 372 2Q07 1972 n/a
Camden Downs

Louisville, KY 254 2Q07 1975 n/a
Camden Ridge

Ft. Worth, TX 208 4Q07 1985 n/a
Camden Terrace

Ft. Worth, TX 340 4Q07 1984 n/a
Camden Eastchase

Charlotte, NC 220 4Q07 1986 n/a
Camden Glen

Greensboro, NC 304 4Q07 1980 n/a
Camden Isles

Tampa, FL 484 4Q07 1983/1985 n/a
Camden Timber Creek

Charlotte, NC 352 4Q07 1984 n/a
Camden Wendover

Greensboro, NC 216 4Q07 1985 n/a
   Total apartment homes sold 3,054

Held for Sale
Camden Pinnacle

Westminster, CO 224 n/a 1985 $11.2
Camden Ridgeview

Austin, TX 167 n/a 1984 4.2
   Total apartment homes sold and held for sale 3,445

(1) Net Book Value is land and buildings and improvements less the related accumulated depreciation as of December 31, 2007.

     During the year ended December 31, 2007, we received net proceeds of approximately $166.4 million and recognized      During the year ended December 31, 2007, we received net proceeds of approximately $166.4 million and recognized 

  

($ in millions)  
LOCATION ACRES NET BOOK VALUE

Southeast Florida 2.2 $ 7.2
Dallas    2.4  1.8
   Total land held for sale   $ 9.0
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During the year ended December 31, 2007, we sold 0.9 acres of undeveloped land to an unrelated third party.  In 
connection with this sale, we received net proceeds of $6.0 million and recognized gains totaling $0.7 million.  
During the year ended December 31, 2006, we sold undeveloped land totaling 8.7 acres to unrelated third parties.  In 
connection with these sales, we received net proceeds of $41.0 million and recognized gains totaling $20.5 million.  
Land sales during the year ended December 31, 2005 were immaterial.

Development and Lease-Up Properties
At December 31, 2007, we had fi ve completed properties in lease-up as follows:

At December 31, 2007, we had several properties in various stages of construction as follows:

Our consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2007 included $446.7 million related to properties under 
development.  Of this amount, $213.1 million related to our projects currently under development.  Additionally, at 
December 31, 2007, we had $233.6 million invested in land held for future development, which includes $185.4 million 
related to projects we expect to begin constructing during the next 18 months.  We also had $43.8 million invested in 
land tracts adjacent to recently completed and current development projects, which we may utilize to further develop 
apartment homes in these areas.  We may also sell certain parcels of these undeveloped land tracts to third parties 
for commercial and retail development. 

($ in millions) NUMBER OF COST % LEASED AT DATE OF ESTIMATED DATE OF
PROPERTY AND LOCATION APARTMENT HOMES INCURRED 2 /11/08 COMPLETION STABILIZATION

Consolidated
Camden Old Creek 

San Marcos, CA 350 $ 92.1 90.0% 1Q07 1Q08
Camden  Royal Oaks

Houston, TX 236  21.0 78.0% 3Q06 2Q08
Camden Monument Place 

Fairfax, VA 368  62.2 73.0% 4Q07 2Q08
Camden City Centre

Houston, TX 379  51.1 60.0% 4Q07 3Q08
  Total – consolidated 1,333 $ 226.4
Equity Interests
Camden Plaza 

Houston, TX 271 $ 40.7 61.0% 3Q07 2Q08

  

  

  

($ in millions) NUMBER OF    INCLUDED IN PROPERTIES ESTIMATED DATE ESTIMATED DATE
PROPERTY AND LOCATION APARTMENT HOMES ESTIMATED COST COST INCURRED UNDER DEVELOPMENT OF COMPLETION OF STABILIZATION

Consolidated           
Camden Potomac Yard (1)

   Arlington, VA 378 $ 110.0   $ 101.6 $ 65.6 1Q08 1Q09  
Camden Orange Court
   Orlando, FL 261  49.0  42.2  42.2 3Q08 1Q09  
Camden Circle C
   Austin, TX 208  27.0  10.0  10.0 4Q08 1Q09  
Camden Summerfi eld (1)

   Landover, MD 291  68.0  57.9  25.2 4Q08 1Q09  
Camden Dulles Station
   Oak Hill, VA 366  77.0  51.7  51.7 1Q09 3Q09  
Camden Whispering Oaks
   Houston, TX 274  30.0  10.2  10.2 1Q09 3Q09  
Camden Amber Oaks
   Austin, TX 348  40.0  8.2  8.2 2Q09 3Q10  
       Total – consolidated        2,126 $ 401.0 $ 281.8 $ 213.1

(1) Properties in lease-up as of December 31, 2007.
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At December 31, 2007, we had investments in four joint ventures which were developing four multifamily communities:

Geographic Diversifi cation
At December 31, 2007 and 2006, our investments in various geographic areas, excluding investments in joint ventures 
and properties held for sale, were as follows:

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Changes in revenues and expenses related to our operating properties from period to period are due primarily to 
acquisitions, sales of assets to joint ventures, the performance of stabilized properties in the portfolio, and the lease-up 
of newly constructed properties.  Where appropriate, comparisons of income and expense on communities included in 
continuing operations are made on a per-weighted average apartment home basis in order to adjust for changes in the 
number of apartment homes owned during each period.  Selected weighted averages for the years ended December 31 
are as follows:

($ in millions)
PROPERTY AND LOCATION  NUMBER OF APARTMENT HOMES ESTIMATED COST  TOTAL COST INCURRED

Braeswood Place (2)

Houston, TX 340  $ 48.6  $ 21.4
Belle Meade (2)

Houston, TX  119  33.2  8.6
Camden Main & Jamboree (1)

Irvine, CA 290  112.0  107.8
Camden College Park (1)

College Park, MD 508  139.9  118.5
Total     1,257 $ 333.7 $ 256.3

(1) Properties in lease-up as of December 31, 2007.
(2) Properties being developed by joint venture partner.

  

  

  

  

 ($ in thousands) 2007 2006
Washington, D.C. Metro $ 1,196,451 21.8% $ 1,038,981 20.4%
Southeast Florida     444,645 8.1    442,550 8.7
Houston, Texas     374,177 6.8    334,019 6.6
Dallas, Texas     372,075 6.8    378,985 7.4
Tampa, Florida     370,379 6.7    322,684 6.3
Los Angeles/Orange County, California     346,452 6.3    343,853 6.7
Orlando, Florida     336,768 6.1    288,088 5.6
Atlanta, Georgia    316,733 5.8    314,595 6.2
Las Vegas, Nevada     314,609 5.7    281,069 5.5
Charlotte, North Carolina     312,760 5.7    336,337 6.6
Raleigh, North Carolina     235,263 4.3    232,973 4.6
San Diego/Inland Empire, California     225,769 4.1    190,341 3.7
Austin, Texas     221,807 4.1    158,673 3.1
Denver, Colorado    202,962 3.7    198,185 3.9
Phoenix, Arizona     117,092 2.1    115,418 2.3
Other           105,742 1.9    122,708 2.4
  Total real estate assets, at cost $ 5,493,684 100.0% $ 5,099,459 100.0%

 ($ in thousands)

2007 2006 2005
Average monthly property revenue per apartment home $ 1,005 $ 951 $ 871
Annualized total property expenses per apartment home $ 4,501 $ 4,328 $ 4,016
Weighted average number of operating apartment homes owned 100%     50,504    50,872  48,250
Weighted average occupancy of operating apartment homes owned 100%   93.7%    95.1%  95.1%
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Property-level operating results
The following tables present the property-level revenues and property-level expenses, excluding discontinued 
operations, for the year ended December 31, 2007 as compared to 2006 and for the year ended December 31, 2006 as 
compared to 2005:

*  Not a meaningful percentage.

Same store communities are communities we owned and were stabilized as of January 1, 2006.  Non-same store communities are stabilized communities 
we have acquired or developed after January 1, 2006.  Development and lease-up communities are non-stabilized communities we have acquired 
or developed after January 1, 2006.  Dispositions primarily represent communities we have partially sold to joint ventures in which we retained an 
ownership interest. 

*  Not a meaningful percentage.

Same store communities are communities we owned and were stabilized as of January 1, 2005.  Non-same store communities are stabilized communities 
we have acquired or developed after January 1, 2005.  Development and lease-up communities are non-stabilized communities we have developed or 
acquired after January 1, 2005.  Dispositions primarily represent communities we have partially sold to joint ventures in which we retained an ownership 
interest.  

Same store analysis
Our same store property revenues for the year ended December 31, 2007 increased $19.5 million, or 4.1%, from 2006 
resulting primarily from higher average rental income per apartment home and increases in other property income, 
partially offset by declines in occupancy.  Same store property revenues for the year ended December 31, 2006 
increased $20.9 million, or 7.1%, from 2005 primarily from higher average rental income per apartment home.  

  YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,  CHANGE
($ in thousands)  APARTMENT HOMES AT 12/31/07 2007 2006 $ %
Property revenues
Same store communities 42,089 $ 499,776 $ 480,305 $ 19,471 4.1%  
Non-same store communities 8,312  96,372  75,448  20,924 27.7  
Development and lease-up communities 3,459  8,473  508  7,965 *  
Dispositions/other -  4,459  24,315  (19,856) (81.7)  
  Total property revenues 53,860 $ 609,080 $ 580,576 $ 28,504 4.9%  
Property expenses          
Same store communities 42,089 $ 185,145 $ 180,862 $ 4,283 2.4%  
Non-same store communities 8,312  35,488  27,392  8,096 29.6  
Development and lease-up communities 3,459  4,726  532  4,194 *  
Dispositions/other -  1,947  11,377  (9,430) (82.9)  
  Total property expenses 53,860 $ 227,306 $ 220,163 $ 7,143 3.2%

  

  
  
  

          

  
  
  

  YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,  CHANGE
($ in thousands)  APARTMENT HOMES AT 12/31/06 2006 2005 $ %
Property revenues
Same store communities 30,950 $ 317,222 $ 296,288 $ 20,934 7.1%
Non-same store communities 17,087  225,449  166,152  59,297 35.7
Development and lease-up communities 4,391  13,585  405  13,180 *
Dispositions/other -  24,320  41,216  (16,896) (41.0)
  Total property revenues 52,428 $ 580,576 $ 504,061 $ 76,515 15.2%
Property expenses
Same store communities 30,950 $ 128,255 $ 121,622 $ 6,633 5.5%
Non-same store communities 17,087  76,472  57,517  18,955 33.0
Development and lease-up communities 4,391  4,308  87  4,221 *
Dispositions/other -  11,128  14,566  (3,438) (23.6)
  Total property expenses 52,428 $ 220,163 $ 193,792 $ 26,371 13.6%

  

  
  
  

  
  
  

Total property revenues
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Same store property revenues for 2007 as compared to 2006 were positively impacted by increases in revenues in 
substantially all markets.  These revenue increases were driven by other property income which increased due to the 
implementation of Perfect Connection (also known as CamdenTV) which provides cable services to our residents and 
other utility rebilling programs.  Our same store communities recognized an overall increase in average rental rates, 
as we experienced rental rate increases in all markets.  The increase in average rental rates was a result of moderate 
improvements in fundamentals resulting from continued job growth, population growth, and household formations.  
Average occupancy at our same store properties declined less than 1% in 2007, as we saw decreases in occupancy in 
a majority of our markets.  We believe our operating performance was also a result of the continued operational and 
technological enhancements we are making at many of our communities, which have created opportunities to take 
advantage of additional revenue sources.

Same store property revenues for 2006 as compared to 2005 were impacted by increases in revenues in all markets.  
These revenue increases were a result of an overall increase in average rental rates at our same store communities 
and increases in other property income. 

Total property expenses from our same store communities increased 2.4% and 5.5% for the year ended December 31, 
2007 as compared to 2006 and for the year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to 2005, respectively.  The increases 
in same store property expenses per apartment home for the year ended December 31, 2007 as compared to 2006 
were primarily due to increases in repair and maintenance expenses and utility expenses in connection with our utility 
rebilling program discussed above.  The increases for the year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to 2005 were 
primarily due to increases in salary and benefi t expenses, real estate tax expenses and utility expenses.  
  
Non-same store analysis and other analysis
Property revenues from non-same store, development and lease-up communities increased $28.9 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2007 as compared to 2006 and increased $72.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 as 
compared to 2005.  Both periods realized increases due to the completion and lease-up of certain properties in our 
development pipeline.  See “Development and Lease-Up Properties” for additional detail of occupancy at properties in 
our development pipeline.  Increases in 2006 as compared to 2005 were primarily affected by communities acquired in 
the Summit merger.

Property revenues from dispositions/other decreased $19.9 million and $16.9 million for the year ended December 
31, 2007 as compared to 2006 and for the year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to 2005, respectively.  For the 
year ended December 31, 2007, revenue from dispositions/other primarily related to retail lease income of $4.3 million.  
Dispositions/other property revenues earned during the year ended December 31, 2006 primarily related to properties 
partially sold to joint ventures of $20.0 million and retail lease income of $3.1 million.  For the year ended December 31, 
2005, dispositions/other property revenues earned primarily related to properties partially sold into joint ventures of 
$35.1 million, retail lease income of $2.3 million and income associated with the amortization of above and below market 
leases on acquired communities of $2.8 million.  

Property expenses from non-same store, development and lease-up communities increased $12.3 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2007 as compared to 2006 and $23.2 million for 2006 as compared to 2005.  Both periods 
realized increases due to the completion and lease-up of properties in our development pipeline.  Increases in 2006 as 
compared to 2005 were primarily affected by communities acquired in the Summit merger.

Property expenses from dispositions/other decreased $9.4 million and $3.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 
as compared to 2006 and for the year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to 2005, respectively.  The decrease for 
the year ended December 31, 2007 as compared to December 31, 2006 was due to the partial sale of nine properties to a 
joint venture in 2006.  The decrease for the year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to December 31, 2005 was due 
to the partial sale of twelve properties to a joint venture in 2005.    
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Non-property income

Fee and asset management income, which represents income related to third-party construction and development 
projects and property management, for the year ended December 31, 2007 decreased $5.7 million as compared to 
2006 and increased $1.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to 2005.  These changes were 
primarily due to increased fees earned from joint ventures and third-party construction and development projects in 
2006 as compared to both 2007 and 2005.

Income from the sale of technology investments totaled $0.6 million, $1.6 million and $24.2 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.  During the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, we recognized 
a $1.6 million and $24.2 million gain, respectively, on the sale of our investment in Rent.com. 

Interest and other income decreased $1.0 million for 2007 as compared to 2006 and increased $2.4 million for 2006 as 
compared to 2005.  Interest income, which primarily relates to interest earned on notes receivable outstanding under 
our mezzanine fi nancing program, increased $0.6 million for 2007 as compared to 2006 and decreased $2.9 million for 
2006 as compared to 2005.  The increase for 2007 as compared to 2006 was primarily due to new notes issued during 
2007 of approximately $9.1 million and the decrease for 2006 as compared to 2005 was primarily due to repayments of 
approximately $21.4 million.  Other income was $3.8 million in 2007 and $5.3 million in 2006.  Other income represents 
income recognized upon the settlement of legal, insurance and warranty claims and contract disputes.

Income on deferred compensation plans decreased $2.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2007 as 
compared to 2006 and increased $3.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to 2005.  The 
changes in income primarily related to the performance of the assets held in the deferred compensation plans for 
plan participants.   

Other expenses

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, CHANGE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, CHANGE
($ in thousands) 2007 2006 $ % 2006 2005 $ %
Fee and asset management $ 8,293 $ 14,041 $ (5,748) (40.9)% $ 14,041 $ 12,912 $ 1,129 8.7%
Sale of technology investments   623  1,602  (979) (61.1)  1,602  24,206  (22,604)   *
Interest and other income   8,804  9,771  (967) (9.9)  9,771  7,373  2,398 32.5
Income on deferred compensation plans   7,282  10,116  (2,834) (28.0)  10,116  6,421  3,695 57.5
  Total non-property income $ 25,002 $ 35,530 $ (10,528) (29.6)% $ 35,530 $ 50,912 $ (15,382) (30.2)%

*  Not a meaningful percentage.

  
  
  

  
  
  

  
  
  

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, CHANGE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, CHANGE
($ in thousands) 2007 2006 $ % 2006 2005 $ %
Property management $ 18,413 $ 18,490 $ (77) (0.4)% $ 18,490 $ 16,145 $ 2,345 14.5%
Fee and asset management   4,552  9,382  (4,830) (51.5)  9,382  6,897  2,485 36.0
General and administrative   32,590  37,584  (4,994) (13.3)  37,584  24,845  12,739 51.3
Transaction compensation and 

merger expenses  -  -  - -  -  14,085  (14,085) *
Impairment provision on 

technology investment  -  -  - -  -  130  (130) *
Interest    116,281  117,862  (1,581) (1.3)  117,862  111,052  6,810 6.1
Depreciation and amortization  162,189  153,609  8,580 5.6  153,609  159,841  (6,232) (3.9)
Amortization of deferred fi nancing costs  3,689  3,807  (118) (3.1)  3,807  3,739  68 1.8
Expense on deferred compensation plans  7,282  10,116  (2,834) (28.0)  10,116  6,421  3,695 57.5
  Total non-property expenses $ 344,996 $ 350,850 $ (5,854) (1.7)% $ 350,850 $ 343,155 $ 7,695 2.2%

*  Not a meaningful percentage.

  
  

  

  
  

  
  
  

  
  

  

  
  
  
  
  

  
  

  

  
  
  
  
  Expense on deferred compensation plans
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Property management expense, which represents regional supervision and accounting costs related to property 
operations, decreased $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 as compared to 2006 and increased $2.3 
million for 2006 as compared to 2005.  The increase for 2006 as compared to 2005 was primarily due to an increase in 
the number of regional offi ce employees which caused increases in salary and benefi t expenses, including long-term 
incentive compensation and amortization expense recorded for share awards.  Property management expense was 
3.0% of total property revenues for the year ended December 31, 2007, and 3.2% of total property revenues for the 
years ended December 31,  2006 and 2005.
  
Fee and asset management expense, which represents expenses related to third-party construction and development 
projects and property management, decreased $4.8 million for 2007 as compared to 2006 and increased $2.5 million 
for 2006 as compared to 2005, primarily as a result of the timing of costs and cost over-runs recognized on third party 
construction and development projects during each period and a higher level of third-party construction activity in 
2006 as compared to 2007 and 2005. 

General and administrative expenses decreased $5.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2007 as compared 
to 2006 and increased $12.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to 2005, and were 5.1%, 
6.1% and 4.5% of total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.  The decrease 
in general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2007 as compared to 2006 was primarily due 
to reduced legal and incentive compensation expenses.  The increase in general and administrative expenses for the 
year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to 2005 was primarily due to costs associated with increases in salary 
and benefi t expenses, including long-term incentive compensation and amortization expense recorded for share 
awards, acceleration of vesting of previously granted share awards and legal costs.  During 2006, an aggregate of 
76,542 share awards that otherwise would have vested from time to time over the next fi ve years became immediately 
exercisable.  By accelerating the vesting of these share awards, we recognized a one-time expense of approximately 
$4.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2006.  

During the year ended December 31, 2005, we incurred transaction compensation and merger expenses totaling $14.1 
million related to the Summit merger.  Merger expenses primarily related to training and transitional employee costs.

Interest expense for the year ended 2007 decreased $1.6 million as compared to 2006.  Factors contributing to the 
decrease in interest expense include repayment of debt from proceeds received from our July 2006 equity offering, 
property dispositions during both periods and interest adjustments related to tax liabilities.  Partially offsetting this 
decrease was interest incurred on debt used to repurchase our common shares during 2007.  While our average 
debt level outstanding during 2007 increased slightly as compared to 2006, we continued to fund construction costs 
associated with our development pipeline increasing interest capitalized by $2.0 million during 2007 as compared to 
2006.  Interest expense for 2006 increased $6.8 million over 2005 primarily as a result of increases in debt outstanding 
and increases in the effective interest rates associated with our variable rate debt.  These increases were partially 
offset by repayment of debt from proceeds received from our July 2006 equity offering and property dispositions.  
Interest capitalized for the year ended December 31, 2006 increased $3.1 million over the same period in 2005.

Depreciation and amortization expense and amortization of deferred fi nancing costs increased 5.4% during the 
year ended December 31, 2007 as compared to 2006 and decreased 3.8% during the year ended December 31, 2006 
as compared to 2005.  The increase in 2007 as compared to 2006 was primarily due to an increased level of new 
development and capital improvements placed in service during 2007 as compared to 2006.  The decrease in 2006 as 
compared to 2005 was primarily due to amortization of the value of in-place leases acquired in connection with the 
merger with Summit of $32.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2005, offset by additional depreciation on 
assets acquired and new development and capital improvements placed in service during the preceding year.  

Expense on deferred compensation plans decreased $2.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2007 as 
compared to 2006 and increased $3.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to 2005.  The 
changes in expense primarily related to the performance of the assets held in the deferred compensation plans for 
plan participants.   
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Other

Gain on sale of properties for the year ended December 31, 2006 included gains of $91.5 million from the partial sale 
of nine operating properties to an affi liated joint venture and $5.2 million from the partial sales of land to affi liated 
joint ventures; also included in gain on sale of properties for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $0.8 million from 
the sale of undeveloped land to an unaffi liated third party.  Gain on sale of properties for the year ended December 
31, 2005 included a gain of $132.1 million from the partial sale of 12 operating communities to affi liated joint ventures 
and $0.8 million from the sale of undeveloped land to an unaffi liated third party.  See further discussion of gains 
associated with property dispositions in “Property Portfolio”.

The impairment loss on land for the year ended December 31, 2007 of $1.4 million coincided with our decision to 
abandon development efforts at a site located in Dallas, Texas.  Prior to our decision to abandon efforts, the carrying 
value of the land was supportable with cash fl ow projections from expected development.  While no determination 
has been made to dispose of the asset, we have written down previously recorded carrying costs to record the 
asset at fair market value.  During 2005, we sold undeveloped land to an unrelated third party.  In connection with our 
decision to sell this undeveloped land, we recognized an impairment loss of $0.3 million. 

Equity in income of joint ventures decreased $3.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 as compared to 2006, 
and decreased $4.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to 2005.  Changes from period to 
period are due to changes in the number of properties and gains recognized on the sale of assets held through joint 
ventures.  During 2007, certain of our development joint ventures completed construction and as such, depreciation 
recorded during the period was greater than income recognized as these properties have not reached stabilization.  
We recognized $2.8 million of gains for our proportionate share of the sale of three properties held through a joint 
venture during the year ended December 31, 2006.  During the year ended December 31, 2005, we recognized 
$11.2 million in gains for our proportionate share of the sale of three properties held in joint ventures.  The gains 
recognized during the year ended December 31, 2005 were partially offset by losses of $2.0 million recognized in one 
joint venture due to debt retirement costs associated with the refi nancing of debt.

Income allocated to common units and other minority interests decreased $11.0 million during the year ended 
December 31, 2007 as compared to 2006 and increased $14.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2006 as 
compared to 2005.  Income allocated to common units in 2006 was due primarily to gains recognized on the partial 
sale of eight properties held in Camden Operating, L.P. to a joint venture during the year ended December 31, 2006.  A 
portion of the gains recognized were allocated to minority interest holders in Camden Operating, L.P.

Income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2007 was $3.1 million.  Income tax expense is comprised of $1.0 
million in margin taxes, $0.5 million in federal income taxes on our taxable REIT subsidiaries, and $1.6 million in state 
taxes in our operating partnerships.  

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, CHANGE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, CHANGE
($ in thousands) 2007 2006 $ % 2006 2005 $ %
Gain on sale of properties, including land $ - $ 97,452 $ (97,452) *% $ 97,452 $ 132,914 $ (35,462) (26.7)%
Impairment loss on land  (1,447)  -  (1,447) *  -  (339)  339 *
Equity in income of joint ventures  1,526  5,156  (3,630) (70.4)  5,156  10,049  (4,893) (48.7)
Distributions on perpetual preferred units  (7,000)  (7,000)  - -  (7,000)  (7,028)  28 0.4
Original issuance costs on redeemed 

perpetual preferred units  -  -  - -  -  (365)  365 *
Income allocated to common units and 

other minority interests  (4,729)  (15,685)  10,956 69.9  (15,685)  (1,731)  (13,954) *
Income tax expense – current  (3,052)  -  (3,052) *  -  -  - -

*  Not a meaningful percentage.
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FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS (“FFO”)

Management considers FFO to be an appropriate measure of the fi nancial performance of an equity REIT.  The National 
Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts (“NAREIT”) currently defi nes FFO as net income (computed in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”)), excluding gains (or losses) 
associated with the sale of previously depreciated operating properties, real estate depreciation and amortization, and 
adjustments for unconsolidated joint ventures.  Our calculation of diluted FFO also assumes conversion of all potentially 
dilutive securities, including minority interests, which are convertible into common shares.  We consider FFO to be an 
appropriate supplemental measure of operating performance because, by excluding gains or losses on dispositions of 
operating properties and excluding depreciation, FFO can help one compare the operating performance of a company’s 
real estate between periods or as compared to different companies.

We believe in order to facilitate a clear understanding of our consolidated historical operating results, FFO should be 
examined in conjunction with net income as presented in the consolidated statements of operations and data included 
elsewhere in this report.  FFO is not defi ned by GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to net income as 
an indication of our operating performance.  Additionally, FFO as disclosed by other REITs may not be comparable to our 
calculation.  

Reconciliations of net income to diluted FFO for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 are as follows:

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We are committed to maintaining a strong balance sheet and preserving our fi nancial fl exibility, which we believe 
enhances our ability to identify and capitalize on investment opportunities as they become available.  We intend to 
maintain what management believes is a conservative capital structure by:

•  using what management believes to be a prudent combination of debt and common and preferred equity;
•  extending and sequencing the maturity dates of our debt where possible; 
•  managing interest rate exposure using what management believes to be prudent levels of fi xed and fl oating rate debt;
•  borrowing on an unsecured basis in order to maintain a substantial number of unencumbered assets; and
•  maintaining conservative coverage ratios.

Our interest expense coverage ratio, net of capitalized interest, was 3.0, 2.9 and 2.8 times for the years ended December 
31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.  Our interest expense coverage ratio is calculated by dividing interest expense for 
the period into the sum of income from continuing operations before gain on sale of properties, equity in income of joint 
ventures and minority interests, depreciation, amortization, interest expense and income from discontinued operations.  

(in thousands)  2007 2006 2005
Funds from operations

Net income $ 148,457 $ 232,846 $ 199,086
Gain on sale of properties, net of tax (1)    (105,098)    (170,304)  (168,221)
Real estate depreciation and amortization (1)    161,064    157,233  168,777
Income allocated to convertible minority interests (1)    17,796    17,537  2,515
Adjustments for unconsolidated joint ventures (2)    4,934    478  (6,867)

Funds from operations – diluted $ 227,153 $ 237,790 $ 195,290
Weighted average shares – basic    58,135    56,660  52,000
Incremental shares assumable from assumed conversion of:

Common share options and awards granted     482    725  483
Common units    3,503    3,868  3,830

Weighted average shares – diluted    62,120    61,253  56,313
            
(1) Including amounts for discontinued operations.
(2) Adjustment for 2006 and 2005 includes $2.8 million and $11.2 million in gains recognized on sales of properties held in joint ventures.  2006 adjustment is net 
of $0.5 million in prepayment penalties incurred with the repayment of mortgage notes directly associated with the sold properties.

  
  
  
  

  

  
  
  

Adjustments for unconsolidated joint ventures
Funds from operations – diluted
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At December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, 81.6%, 80.5% and 78.8%, respectively, of our properties (based on invested 
capital) were unencumbered.  Our weighted average maturity of debt, excluding our line of credit, was 4.9 years at 
December 31, 2007.

As a result of the signifi cant cash fl ow generated by our operations, the availability under our unsecured credit 
facility and other short-term borrowings, proceeds from dispositions of properties and other investments and access 
to the capital markets by issuing securities under our automatic shelf registration statement, we believe our liquidity 
and fi nancial condition are suffi cient to meet all of our reasonably anticipated cash fl ow needs during 2008 including:

•  normal recurring operating expenses;
•  current debt service requirements;
•  recurring capital expenditures;
•  repurchase of common equity securities;
•  initial funding of property developments, acquisitions and notes receivable; and
•  the minimum dividend payments required to maintain our REIT qualifi cation under the Internal Revenue Code 

of 1986.

One of our principal long-term liquidity requirements includes the repayment of maturing debt, including borrowings 
under our unsecured line of credit used to fund development and acquisition activities.  During 2008 approximately 
$200.6 million of secured mortgage notes are scheduled to mature.  Additionally, as of December 31, 2007, we had 
several current development projects in various stages of construction, for which a total estimated cost of $119.2 
million remained to be funded.  We intend to meet our long-term liquidity requirements through the use of debt and 
equity offerings under our automatic shelf registration statement, draws on our unsecured credit facility, property 
dispositions and secured mortgage notes.  

In December 2007, we announced our Board of Trust Managers had declared a dividend distribution of $0.69 per 
share to holders of record as of December 21, 2007 of our common shares.  The dividend was subsequently paid on 
January 17, 2008.  We paid equivalent amounts per unit to holders of the common operating partnership units.  This 
distribution to common shareholders and holders of common operating partnership units equates to an annualized 
dividend rate of $2.76 per share or unit.

In April 2007, our Board of Trust Managers approved a program to repurchase up to $250.0 million of our common 
equity securities through open market purchases and privately negotiated transactions.  In January 2008, our Board 
of Trust Managers approved the repurchase of up to an additional $250.0 million of our common equity securities.

Net cash provided by operating activities decreased to $223.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2007 from 
$231.6 million for the same period in 2006.  The decrease was due to a decline in non-property income and timing 
of payments on trade payables and receivables offset by growth in revenues from our stabilized and development 
communities.    

Cash fl ows used in investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2007 totaled $346.8 million, as compared 
to $52.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2006.  Cash outfl ows for property development, acquisition, and 
capital improvements were $500.8 million during 2007 as compared to $444.3 million during 2006.  Proceeds received 
from sales of properties and technology investments, sales of assets to joint ventures and joint venture distributions 
representing returns of investments totaled $178.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 as compared to 
$445.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2006.  Additionally, during the year ended December 31, 2006 notes 
receivable – affi liates increased $41.6 million as fi ve mezzanine loans were provided to joint ventures. 

Net cash provided by fi nancing activities totaled $123.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, primarily as 
a result of $808.0 million in proceeds from notes payable, offset by repayment of balances outstanding on our line 
of credit of $91.0 million, payments of $213.4 million related to the payoff of two senior unsecured notes and one 
mortgage note, $200.5 million of common share repurchases, and distributions paid to shareholders and minority 
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interest holders of $178.1 million.  Net cash used in fi nancing activities totaled $180.0 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2006, primarily as a result of the repayment of balances outstanding on our line of credit of $45.0 million, 
payments of $227.3 million related to the payoff of senior unsecured notes and one mortgage note and distributions 
paid to shareholders and minority interest holders of $166.2 million.  The cash used in fi nancing activities was partially 
offset by $254.9 million of proceeds from the issuance of 3.6 million common shares in 2006.  

Financial Flexibility
We have a $600 million unsecured credit facility which matures in January 2010.  The scheduled interest rate is based 
on spreads over the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) or the Prime Rate.  The scheduled interest rate spreads 
are subject to change as our credit ratings change.  Advances under the line of credit may be priced at the scheduled 
rates, or we may enter into bid rate loans with participating banks at rates below the scheduled rates.  These bid 
rate loans have terms of six months or less and may not exceed the lesser of $300 million or the remaining amount 
available under the line of credit.  The line of credit is subject to customary fi nancial covenants and limitations, all of 
which we are in compliance.

Our line of credit provides us with the ability to issue up to $100 million in letters of credit.  While our issuance of 
letters of credit does not increase our borrowings outstanding under our line, it does reduce the amount available.  At 
December 31, 2007, we had outstanding letters of credit totaling $14.6 million, and had $470.4 million available under 
our unsecured line of credit.

As an alternative to our unsecured line of credit, we from time to time borrow using competitively bid unsecured 
short-term notes with lenders who may or may not be a part of the unsecured line of credit bank group.  Such 
borrowings vary in term and pricing and are typically priced at interest rates below those available under the 
unsecured line of credit.

During both 2007 and 2006, we repaid $200.0 million of maturing unsecured notes with effective interest rates of 5.6% 
and 6.8%, respectively.  During 2007, we refi nanced one of our maturing secured conventional mortgage notes, which 
had a balance of $6.8 million and a variable interest rate at 7.31%; the new note was for a principal amount of $9.0 
million with a fi xed interest rate of 6.0% and matures on August 1, 2014.  We also repaid one conventional mortgage 
note during 2006 totaling $13.1 million, which had an interest rate of 7.6%.  We repaid all notes payable using proceeds 
available under our unsecured line of credit. 

In connection with our partial sale of nine apartment communities to a joint venture during 2006, as discussed in Note 
8, “Investments in Joint Ventures” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, three variable rate tax-exempt 
mortgage notes totaling $30.5 million were assumed by the joint venture.

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the weighted average interest rate on our fl oating rate debt, which includes our 
unsecured line of credit, was 5.0% and 5.4%, respectively.

We fi led an automatic shelf registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission during 2006 which 
became effective upon fi ling.  We may use the shelf registration statement to offer, from time to time, common shares, 
preferred shares, debt securities or warrants.  Our declaration of trust provides that we may issue up to 110,000,000 
shares of benefi cial interest, consisting of 100,000,000 common shares and 10,000,000 preferred shares.  As of 
December 31, 2007, we had 65,434,369 common shares and no preferred shares outstanding under our declaration of 
trust.

In June 2006, we issued 3.6 million common shares at $71.25 per share in a public equity offering under our shelf 
registration statement.  We used the net proceeds of $254.9 million to reduce indebtedness on our unsecured line of 
credit and for general corporate purposes.
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Contractual Obligations
The following table summarizes our known contractual obligations as of December 31, 2007:

The joint ventures in which we have an interest have been funded in part with secured, third-party debt.  We are not 
committed to any additional funding on third-party debt in relation to our joint ventures.  We are committed to funding 
an additional $6.2 million under mezzanine loans provided to joint ventures.  We have guaranteed the repayment of 
the construction loans of fi ve of our development joint ventures in an amount equal to our percentage interest in 
such joint ventures, totaling $65.7 million.  We believe it is unlikely signifi cant payments will be required under these 
guarantees.  See further discussion of our investments in various joint ventures in Note 8, “Investments in Joint 
Ventures” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

INFLATION

Substantially all of our apartment leases are for a term generally ranging from 6 to 15 months.  In an infl ationary 
environment, we may realize increased rents at the commencement of new leases or upon the renewal of existing 
leases.  The short-term nature of our leases generally minimizes our risk from the adverse effects of infl ation.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Critical accounting policies are those most important to the presentation of a company’s fi nancial condition and 
results, and require management’s most diffi cult, subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of the need 
to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain.  We follow fi nancial accounting and 
reporting policies in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America.

Principles of Consolidation.  Our consolidated fi nancial statements include our assets, liabilities and operations 
and those of our wholly-owned subsidiaries and partnerships.  We also make co-investments with unrelated third 
parties and determine whether to consolidate or use the equity method of accounting for these ventures.  FASB 
Interpretation No. 46R, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (as revised) and Emerging Issues Task Force No. “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (as revised) and Emerging Issues Task Force No. “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities”
04-05, “Determining Whether a General Partner, or the General Partners as a Group, Controls a Limited Partnership 
or Similar Entity When the Limited Partners Have Certain Rights” are two of the primary sources of accounting or Similar Entity When the Limited Partners Have Certain Rights” are two of the primary sources of accounting or Similar Entity When the Limited Partners Have Certain Rights”
guidance in this area.  In accordance with this accounting literature, we will consolidate joint ventures determined 
to be variable interest entities for which we are the primary benefi ciary.  We will also consolidate any joint ventures 
that are not determined to be variable interest entities but where we exercise control over major operating decisions 
through substantive participating rights.  Any entities that do not meet the criteria for consolidation, but where we 
exercise signifi cant infl uence are accounted for using the equity method.  All signifi cant intercompany accounts and 
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Income Recognition.  Our rental and other property income is recorded when due from residents and is recognized 
monthly as it is earned.  Other property income consists primarily of utility rebillings, and administrative, application 

(in millions) TOTAL 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 THEREAFTER

Debt maturities $ 2,828.1 $ 200.6 $ 198.1 $ 567.7 $ 248.2 $ 772.5 $ 841.0
Interest payments (1)  731.5  149.6  136.3  112.9  90.5  79.0  163.2
Capital contributions to Fund (2)  37.5  37.5  -  -  -  -  -
Non-cancelable lease payments  16.2  2.5  2.3  2.3  2.2  1.8  5.1
Postretirement benefi t obligations  2.5  0.2  0.2  0.2  0.2  0.3  1.4
Construction contracts  73.4  71.9  1.5  -  -  -  -
      $ 3,689.2 $ 462.3 $ 338.4 $ 683.1 $ 341.1 $ 853.6 $ 1,010.7

(1) Includes contractual interest payments for our line of credit, senior unsecured notes, medium-term notes and secured notes.  Interest payments on 
the term loan were calculated based on the interest rate effectively fi xed by the interest rate swap agreement.  The interest payments on certain 
secured notes with fl oating interest rates and our line of credit were calculated based on the interest rates in effect as of December 31, 2007. 

(2) Contingent on timing of capital calls by the Fund; subject to change.

(in millions)
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and other transactional fees charged to our residents.  Our apartment homes are rented to residents on lease terms 
generally ranging from 6 to 15 months, with monthly payments due in advance.  Interest, fee and asset management 
and all other sources of income are recognized as earned.  Two of our properties are subject to rent control or rent 
stabilization.  Operations of apartment properties acquired are recorded from the date of acquisition in accordance 
with the purchase method of accounting.  In management’s opinion, due to the number of residents, the type and 
diversity of submarkets in which the properties operate, and the collection terms, there is no signifi cant concentration 
of credit risk.

Cost Capitalization.  Real estate assets are carried at cost plus capitalized carrying charges.  Carrying charges are 
primarily interest and real estate taxes which are capitalized as part of properties under development.  Expenditures 
directly related to the development, acquisition and improvement of real estate assets, excluding internal costs 
relating to acquisitions of operating properties, are capitalized at cost as land, buildings and improvements.  Indirect 
development costs, including salaries and benefi ts and other related costs directly attributable to the development of 
properties are also capitalized.  All construction and carrying costs are capitalized and reported on the balance sheet 
in properties under development until the apartment homes are substantially completed.  Upon substantial completion 
of the apartment homes, the total cost for the apartment homes and the associated land is transferred to buildings 
and improvements and land, respectively, and the assets are depreciated over their estimated useful lives using the 
straight-line method of depreciation. 

Where possible, we stage our construction to allow leasing and occupancy during the construction period, which we 
believe minimizes the duration of the lease-up period following completion of construction.  Our accounting policy 
related to properties in the development and leasing phase is all operating expenses associated with completed 
apartment homes are expensed.

As discussed above, carrying charges are principally interest and real estate taxes capitalized as part of properties 
under development and buildings and improvements.  Capitalized interest was $22.6 million in 2007, $20.6 million in 2006 
and $17.5 million in 2005.  Capitalized real estate taxes were $3.5 million, $2.6 million and $2.5 million in 2007, 2006 and 
2005, respectively.  

We capitalize renovation and improvement costs we believe extend the economic lives.  Capital expenditures 
subsequent to initial construction are capitalized and depreciated over their estimated useful lives, which range from 3 
to 20 years.

Depreciation and amortization is computed over the expected useful lives of depreciable property on a straight-line 
basis with lives generally as follows: 

Allocations of Purchase Price.  Upon the acquisition of real estate, we allocate the purchase price between tangible 
and intangible assets, which includes land, buildings, furniture and fi xtures, the value of in-place leases, including 
above and below market leases, and acquired liabilities.  When allocating the purchase price to acquired properties, 
we allocated costs to the estimated intangible value of in-place leases and above or below market leases and to 
the estimated fair value of furniture and fi xtures, land and buildings on a value determined by assuming the property 
was vacant by applying methods similar to those used by independent appraisers of income-producing property.  
Depreciation and amortization is computed on a straight-line basis over the remaining useful lives of the related assets.  
The value of in-place leases and above or below market leases is amortized over the estimated average remaining 
life of leases in-place at the time of acquisition.  Estimates of fair value of acquired debt are based upon interest rates 
available for the issuance of debt with similar terms and remaining maturities.

     
  ESTIMATED USEFUL LIFE

Buildings and improvements 5-35 years
Furniture, fi xtures, equipment and other 3-20 years
Intangible assets (in-place leases and above and below market leases) average lease term
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Asset Impairment.  Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.  Impairment exists if estimated future undiscounted 
cash fl ows associated with long-lived assets are not suffi cient to recover the carrying value of such assets.  Generally, 
when impairment exists the long-lived asset is adjusted to its respective fair value.

We consider projected future undiscounted cash fl ows, trends, and other factors in our assessment of whether 
impairment conditions exist.  While we believe our estimates of future cash fl ows are reasonable, different assumptions 
regarding such factors as market rents, economies, and occupancies could signifi cantly affect these estimates.  In 
determining fair value, management uses appraisals, management estimates, or discounted cash fl ow calculations.  We 
recorded impairment charges on land of $1.4 million and $0.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2005.  
Our impairment charge in 2007 coincided with our decision to abandon development efforts at a site located in Dallas, 
Texas.  Prior to our decision to abandon development efforts, the carrying value of the land was supportable with cash 
fl ow projections from expected development.  

Derivative Instruments.  We utilize derivative fi nancial instruments to manage interest rate risk and we designate 
the fi nancial instruments as cash fl ow hedges under the guidance of SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative 
Instruments and Hedging Activities,” SFAS No. 138, Instruments and Hedging Activities,” SFAS No. 138, Instruments and Hedging Activities,” “Accounting for Certain Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities, 
an Amendment of Statement No. 133,” and SFAS 149, an Amendment of Statement No. 133,” and SFAS 149, an Amendment of Statement No. 133,” “Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and 
Hedging Activities.”  These statements require every derivative instrument to be recorded on the balance sheet Hedging Activities.”  These statements require every derivative instrument to be recorded on the balance sheet Hedging Activities.”
as either an asset or liability measured at its fair value, with changes in fair value recognized currently in earnings 
unless specifi c hedge accounting criteria are met.  For cash fl ow hedge relationships, changes in the fair value of the 
derivative instrument deemed effective at offsetting the risk being hedged are reported in other comprehensive income.  
For cash fl ow hedges where the cumulative changes in the fair value of the derivative exceed the cumulative changes 
in the fair value of the hedged item, the ineffective portion is recognized in current period earnings.  All derivative 
instruments are recognized on the balance sheet and measured at fair value.  Derivatives not qualifying for hedge 
treatment must be recorded at fair value with gains or losses recognized in earnings in the period of change.  We enter 
into derivative fi nancial instruments from time to time, but do not use them for trading or speculative purposes.  Interest 
rate swap agreements are used to reduce the potential impact of changes in interest rates on variable-rate debt.  

We formally document all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as our risk 
management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge.  This process includes specifi c identifi cation of the 
hedging instrument and the hedged transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged, and how the hedging instrument’s 
effectiveness in hedging the exposure to the hedged transaction’s variability in cash fl ows attributable to the hedged 
risk will be assessed and measured.  Both at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, we assess whether 
the derivatives used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in cash fl ows or fair values of 
hedged items.  We discontinue hedge accounting if a derivative is not determined to be highly effective as a hedge or 
has ceased to be a highly effective hedge.

As of December 31, 2007, we had $500 million in variable rate debt subject to cash fl ow hedges.  See Note 12, 
“Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further 
discussion of derivative fi nancial instruments.

Accumulated other comprehensive income or loss on the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity, refl ects the 
effective portions of cumulative changes in the fair value of derivatives in qualifying cash fl ow hedge relationships.
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RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Interpretation No. (“FIN”) 48, 
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109.”  FIN 48 prescribes a “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109.”  FIN 48 prescribes a “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109.”
two-step process for the fi nancial statement recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be 
taken in a tax return. The fi rst step involves evaluation of a tax position to determine whether it is more likely than 
not the position will be sustained upon examination, based on the technical merits of the position. The second step 
involves measuring the benefi t to recognize in the fi nancial statements for those tax positions that meet the more-
likely-than-not recognition threshold.

We adopted FIN 48 as of January 1, 2007.  If various tax positions related to certain real estate dispositions were 
not sustained upon examination, we would have been required to pay a defi ciency dividend and associated interest 
for prior years.  Accordingly, we decreased distributions in excess of net income as of January 1, 2007 for the 
adoption impact of FIN 48 by approximately $2.5 million.  Our period of uncertainty with respect to these real estate 
dispositions expired during fi scal year 2007, and we recorded a net credit to interest expense of approximately 
$2.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2007.  The tax years ended December 31, 2004, 2005, and 2006 remain 
subject to examination by major tax jurisdictions as of December 31, 2007. We believe we have no uncertain tax 
positions or unrecognized tax benefi ts requiring disclosure. 

We may from time to time be assessed interest or penalties by major tax jurisdictions, although any such 
assessments historically have been minimal and immaterial to our fi nancial results. In the event we receive an 
assessment for interest and/or penalties, it will be classifi ed in the fi nancial statements as tax expense.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements.”  SFAS No. 157 defi nes fair value, “Fair Value Measurements.”  SFAS No. 157 defi nes fair value, “Fair Value Measurements.”
establishes a framework for measuring fair value in GAAP and expands disclosures about fair value measurements.  
The statement does not require new fair value measurements, but is applied to the extent other accounting 
pronouncements require or permit fair value measurements.  The statement emphasizes fair value as a market-
based measurement which should be determined based on assumptions market participants would use in pricing 
an asset or liability.  We will be required to disclose the extent to which fair value is used to measure assets and 
liabilities, the inputs used to develop the measurements, and the effect of certain of the measurements on earnings 
(or changes in net assets) for the period.  SFAS No. 157 is effective for fi scal years beginning after November 15, 
2007.  In February 2008 the FASB deferred the effective date of SFAS No. 157 for all nonfi nancial assets and 
nonfi nancial liabilities except for those that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the fi nancial statements on a 
recurring basis.  We have adopted SFAS No. 157 effective January 1, 2008 for fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities 
and do not expect this adoption to have a material effect on our consolidated results of operations or fi nancial 
position but will enhance the level of disclosures for assets and liabilities recorded at fair value.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities,” which gives entities the option to measure eligible fi nancial assets, fi nancial liabilities and fi rm Liabilities,” which gives entities the option to measure eligible fi nancial assets, fi nancial liabilities and fi rm Liabilities,”
commitments at fair value on an instrument-by-instrument basis (i.e., the fair value option), which are otherwise 
not permitted to be accounted for at fair value under other accounting standards.  The election to use the fair value 
option is available when an entity fi rst recognizes a fi nancial asset or fi nancial liability or upon entering into a fi rm 
commitment.  Subsequent changes in fair value must be recorded in earnings.  Additionally, SFAS No. 159 allows 
for a one-time election for existing positions upon adoption, with the transition adjustment recorded to beginning 
retained earnings.  This statement is effective for fi scal years beginning after November 15, 2007.  We have adopted 
this standard effective January 1, 2008 and have elected not to measure any of our current eligible fi nancial assets 
or liabilities at fair value upon adoption; however, we do reserve the right to elect to measure future eligible fi nancial 
assets or liabilities at fair value.

In September 2007, the FASB ratifi ed Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue 07-6, “Accounting for the Sale 
of Real Estate Subject to the Requirements of FASB Statement No. 66 When the Agreement Includes a Buy-Sell 



Clause,” which clarifi es that a buy-sell clause, in and of itself, does not constitute a prohibited form of continuing Clause,” which clarifi es that a buy-sell clause, in and of itself, does not constitute a prohibited form of continuing Clause,”
involvement that would preclude partial sale treatment under Statement 66.  EITF 07-6 applies prospectively to new 
arrangements entered into in fi scal years beginning after December 15, 2007.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R), “Business Combinations,”  which replaces SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations,”  which replaces SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations,”
“Business Combinations,” which, among other things, establishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer “Business Combinations,” which, among other things, establishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer “Business Combinations,”
entity recognizes and measures in its fi nancial statements the identifi able assets acquired, the liabilities assumed 
(including intangibles) and any noncontrolling interests in the acquired entity.  SFAS No. 141(R) applies prospectively 
to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the fi rst annual reporting period 
beginning on or after December 15, 2008.  We are currently evaluating what impact our adoption of SFAS No. 141(R) will 
have on our fi nancial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements, 
an amendment of ARB No. 51.”  SFAS No. 160 amends ARB 51 to establish accounting and reporting standards for 
the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary.  It also amends certain of ARB 
51’s consolidation procedures for consistency with the requirements of SFAS No. 141(R).  SFAS No. 160 is effective for 
fi scal years, and interim periods within those fi scal years, beginning on or after December 15, 2008.  We are currently 
evaluating what impact our adoption of SFAS No. 160 will have on our fi nancial statements.
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To the Board of Trust Managers 
and Shareholders of 
Camden Property Trust
Houston, Texas

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Camden Property Trust and subsidiaries (the 
“Company”) as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ 
equity, and cash fl ows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007.  These fi nancial statements 
are the responsibility of the Company’s management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial 
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States).  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the fi nancial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting 
principles used and signifi cant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall fi nancial statement 
presentation.  We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated fi nancial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the fi nancial position of 
Camden Property Trust and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the results of their operations and their 
cash fl ows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007, in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated fi nancial statements, on January 1, 2007, the Company adopted Financial 
Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes – an Interpretation of 
FASB Statement No. 109.FASB Statement No. 109.FASB Statement No. 109

Houston, Texas
February 22, 2008

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM



year ended december 31,

(in thousands, except per share amounts) 2007 2006
Assets
Real estate assets, at cost

Land   $ 730,548 $ 693,312
Buildings and improvements     4,316,472    4,036,286

              5,047,020    4,729,598
Accumulated depreciation     (868,074)    (762,011)

  Net operating real estate assets     4,178,946    3,967,587
Properties under development, including land     446,664    369,861
Investments in joint ventures     8,466    9,245
Properties held for sale, including land     25,253    32,763

  Total real estate assets     4,659,329    4,379,456
                
Accounts receivable – affi liates     35,940    34,170
Notes receivable

Affi liates     50,358    41,478
Other       11,565    3,855

Other assets, net     126,996    121,336
Cash and cash equivalents     897    1,034
Restricted cash     5,675    4,721
  Total assets $ 4,890,760 $ 4,586,050
                
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Liabilities

Notes payable
  Unsecured $ 2,265,319 $ 1,759,498
  Secured     562,776    571,478

Accounts payable and accrued expenses     107,403    124,834
Accrued real estate taxes     24,943    23,306
Distributions payable     42,689    43,068
Other liabilities     136,365    105,999

  Total liabilities     3,139,495    2,628,183
                
Commitments and contingencies

Minority interests
Perpetual preferred units    97,925    97,925
Common units     111,624    115,280
Other minority interests     10,403    10,306

  Total minority interests     219,952    223,511
                
Shareholders’ equity

Common shares of benefi cial interest; $0.01 par value per share;
  100,000 shares authorized; 68,030 and 67,451 issued; 65,434 and 65,006 
  outstanding at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively     654    650

Additional paid-in capital     2,209,631    2,183,622
Distributions in excess of net income     (227,025)    (213,665)
Employee notes receivable     (1,950)    (2,036)
Treasury shares, at cost     (433,874)    (234,215)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss     (16,123)    -

  Total shareholders’ equity     1,531,313    1,734,356
  Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 4,890,760 $ 4,586,050
           
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
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year ended december 31,

(in thousands, except per share amounts) 2007 2006 2005
Property revenues
   Rental revenues $ 543,475 $ 527,554 $ 462,935
   Other property revenues     65,605    53,022  41,126
      Total property revenues     609,080    580,576  504,061
Property expenses
   Property operating and maintenance     162,639    158,624  138,293
   Real estate taxes     64,667    61,539  55,499
      Total property expenses     227,306    220,163  193,792
Non-property income
   Fee and asset management     8,293    14,041  12,912
   Sale of technology investments     623    1,602  24,206
   Interest and other income     8,804    9,771  7,373
   Income on deferred compensation plans     7,282    10,116  6,421
      Total non-property income     25,002    35,530  50,912
Other expenses
   Property management     18,413    18,490  16,145
   Fee and asset management     4,552    9,382  6,897
   General and administrative     32,590    37,584  24,845
   Transaction compensation and merger expenses     -    -  14,085
   Impairment provision on technology investment     -    -  130
   Interest       116,281    117,862  111,052
   Depreciation and amortization     162,189    153,609  159,841
   Amortization of deferred fi nancing costs     3,689    3,807  3,739
   Expense on deferred compensation plans     7,282    10,116  6,421
      Total other expenses     344,996    350,850  343,155
Income from continuing operations before gain 

on sale of properties, impairment loss on land, 
equity in income of joint ventures, minority 
interests and income taxes    61,780    45,093  18,026
Gain on sale of properties, including land    -    97,452  132,914
Impairment loss on land     (1,447)    -  (339)
Equity in income of joint ventures     1,526    5,156  10,049
Income allocated to minority interests

  Distributions on perpetual preferred units     (7,000)    (7,000)  (7,028)
  Original issuance costs on redeemed perpetual 
   preferred units     -    -  (365)
     Income allocated to common units and other 
   minority interests    (4,729)    (15,685)  (1,731)
Income from continuing operations before 

income taxes    50,130    125,016  151,526
Income tax expense – current     (3,052)    -  -

Income from continuing operations    47,078    125,016  151,526
Income from discontinued operations    7,857    10,864  12,341
Gain on sale of discontinued operations, 

  including land, net of tax     107,039    99,273  36,175
Income from discontinued operations, allocated 

  to common units     (13,517)    (2,307)  (956)
Net income $ 148,457 $ 232,846 $ 199,086
Earnings per share – basic

Income from continuing operations $ 0.81 $ 2.21 $ 2.91
Income from discontinued operations     1.74    1.90  0.92

        Net income $ 2.55 $ 4.11 $ 3.83
Earnings per share – diluted

Income from continuing operations $ 0.80 $ 2.14 $ 2.72
Income from discontinued operations     1.71    1.82  0.86

        Net income $ 2.51 $ 3.96 $ 3.58
Distributions declared per common share $ 2.76 $ 2.64 $ 2.54
Weighted average number of common shares 

outstanding     58,135    56,660  52,000
Weighted average number of common and 

common dilutive equivalent shares outstanding     59,125    59,524  56,313
           
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

COMMON     ACCUMULATED
SHARES OF ADDITIONAL DISTRIBUTIONS EMPLOYEE TREASURY OTHER TOTAL
BENEFICIAL PAID-IN IN EXCESS OF NOTES SHARES, AT COMPREHENSIVE SHAREHOLDERS’

(in thousands, except per share amounts) INTEREST CAPITAL NET INCOME RECEIVABLE COST LOSS EQUITY

Shareholders’ equity, January 1, 2005 $ 486 $ 1,335,825 $ (361,973) $ - $ (235,823) $ - $ 738,515
Net income        199,086        199,086
Common shares issued in 

  Summit merger (11,802 shares)   118  543,881          543,999
Common shares issued under 

  dividend reinvestment plan     34          34
Share awards issued under benefi t 

  plan (298 shares)   3  5          8
Share awards canceled under 

  benefi t plan (19 shares)     -          -
Amortization of previously granted 

  share awards     11,325          11,325
Employee share purchase plan     523      675    1,198
Acquisition of employee notes 

  receivable         (3,882)      (3,882)
Repayment of employee notes 

  receivable, net         1,804      1,804
Share awards placed into deferred 

  plans (202 shares)   (2)  2          -
Common share options exercised 

  (264 shares)   3  10,461          10,464
Conversions and redemptions 

  of operating partnership units     539          539
Cash distributions ($2.54 per share)       (132,187)        (132,187)

Shareholders’ equity, December 31, 2005 $ 608 $ 1,902,595 $ (295,074) $ (2,078) $ (235,148) $ - $ 1,370,903
Net income        232,846        232,846
Common shares issued (3,600 shares)   36  254,895          254,931
Common shares issued under 

  dividend reinvestment plan     30          30
Share awards issued under benefi t 

  plan (317 shares)   3  (1)      (2)    -
Share awards canceled under benefi t 

  plan (31 shares)     -          -
Amortization of previously granted 

  share awards     12,964          12,964
Employee share purchase plan     1,359      935    2,294
Repayment of employee notes 

  receivable, net         42      42
Share awards placed into deferred 

  plans (97 shares)   (1)  1          -
Common share options exercised 

  (119 shares)   1  5,293          5,294
Conversions and redemptions of 

  operating partnership units   3  6,486          6,489
Cash distributions ($2.64 per share)       (151,437)        (151,437)

Shareholders’ equity, December 31, 2006 $ 650 $ 2,183,622 $ (213,665) $ (2,036) $ (234,215) $ - $ 1,734,356
Comprehensive income:  

  Net income        148,457        148,457
  Other comprehensive loss –
   Change in fair value of cash fl ow 
   hedge            (16,123)  (16,123)
  Total comprehensive income               132,334
  Common shares issued under 
   dividend reinvestment plan     38          38
  Share awards issued under benefi t 
   plan (282 shares)   3  18      (64)    (43)
  Share awards canceled under 
   benefi t plan (65 shares)   (1)  1          -
  Amortization of previously granted 
   share awards     9,327          9,327
  Employee share purchase plan     817      562    1,379

        
          

          

      

          

          
      

        

          

          

          
        

        

          

          

          

          

          
      

        

        

          

          

          
        

     

        

            
              

          

      

          

          
      

        
          

          

      

          

          
      

      

          

          

          
        

        

          

          

          

          

          
      

      

      

          

          

          
        

     

        

            
              

          

      

          

          
      

        
          

          

    

          

          
    

      

          

          

          
        

        

          

          

          

          

          
    

      

      

          

          

          
        

        

            
              

          

    

          

          
    

      

  

    

  

    

    
    

        

        

  

  

    
      

      
  

    

  

    

    
    

        

  

  

  
      

      

            
              

    

  

  

    
    

     

      

  

    

  

    

    
    

        

        

  

  

    
      

      
  

    

  

    

    
    

        

  

  

  
      

      

            
              

    

  

  

    
    

     

      

          

          

          

          

          
      

        

        

          

          

          
      

      
          

          

      

          

          
      

        

          

          

          
      

      

            
              

          

      

          

          
      

        

          

          

          

          

          
    

      

      

          

          

          
        

        
          

          

    

          

          
    

      

          

          

          
        

        

  
              

          

    

          

          
    

Cash distributions ($2.54 per share) 

Comprehensive income:  
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COMMON     ACCUMULATED
SHARES OF ADDITIONAL DISTRIBUTIONS EMPLOYEE TREASURY OTHER TOTAL
BENEFICIAL PAID-IN IN EXCESS OF NOTES SHARES, AT COMPREHENSIVE SHAREHOLDERS’

INTEREST CAPITAL NET INCOME RECEIVABLE COST LOSS EQUITY

(continued)
  Repayment of employee notes 
   receivable, net         86      86
  Share awards placed into deferred 
   plans (151 shares)   (2)  2          -
  Common share options exercised 
   (96 shares)   1  4,333          4,334
  Conversions and redemptions of 
   operating partnership units   3  11,473          11,476
  Common shares repurchased          (200,157)    (200,157)
  Cumulative effect of a change in 
   accounting principle      (2,496)        (2,496)
  Cash distributions ($2.76 per share)       (159,321)        (159,321)
Shareholders’ equity, December 31, 2007 $ 654 $ 2,209,631 $ (227,025) $ (1,950) $ (433,874) $ (16,123) $ 1,531,313

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
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year ended december 31,

(in thousands)  2007 2006 2005
Cash fl ows from operating activities

Net income $ 148,457 $ 232,846 $ 199,086
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided 

  by operating activities
  Depreciation and amortization, including discontinued operations     157,137    159,860    171,254
  Amortization of deferred fi nancing costs    3,689    3,813    3,739
  Equity in income of joint ventures     (1,526)    (5,156)    (10,049)
  Distributions of income from joint ventures     5,406    -    -
  Gain on sale of properties, including land     -    (97,452)    (132,914)
  Gain on sale of discontinued operations     (107,039)    (99,273)    (36,175)
  Gain on sale of technology investments     (623)    (1,602)    (24,206)
  Impairment loss on land    1,447    -    339
  Impairment provision on technology investment    -    -    130
  Original issuance costs on redeemed perpetual preferred units     -    -    365
  Income allocated to minority interests    25,246    24,992    9,715
  Accretion of discount on unsecured notes payable     590    694    687
  Share-based compensation     7,547    11,619    9,549
  Interest on notes receivable – affi liates    (4,112)    (108)    (96)
  Net change in operating accounts     (13,113)    1,336    9,421
   Net cash from operating activities     223,106    231,569    200,845

Cash fl ows from investing activities
  Development and capital improvements     (417,789)    (334,339)    (199,175)
  Acquisition of operating properties    (83,031)    (109,961)    (98,615)
  Proceeds from sale of properties, including land and 
   discontinued operations     171,757    181,963    134,882
  Proceeds from the sale of technology investments     623    1,602    24,651
  Proceeds from sales of assets to joint ventures     -    213,720    316,746
  Distributions of investments from joint ventures     6,525    47,922    79,425
  Investments in joint ventures     (6,015)    (3,147)    (878)
  Payments received on notes receivable – other    1,000    9,406    31,383
  Issuance of notes receivable – other    (8,710)    -    (97)
  Increase in notes receivable – affi liates     (3,154)    (41,615)    -
  Cash of Summit at merger date     -    -    16,696
  Cash consideration paid for Summit     -    -    (458,050)
  Payment of merger related liabilities     -    (8,233)    (51,794)
  Earnest money deposits on potential transactions     (340)    (4,803)    -
  Change in restricted cash     (954)    368    362
  Increase in non-real estate assets and other     (6,710)    (4,950)    (3,097)
   Net cash from investing activities     (346,798)    (52,067)    (207,561)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

year ended december 31,

(in thousands)  2007 2006 2005
Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities                                

Net increase (decrease) in unsecured line of credit and 
  short-term borrowings     (91,000)    (45,000)    195,000

Proceeds from notes payable     807,990    -    248,423
Repayment of Summit secured credit facility     -    -    (188,500)
Repayment of notes payable     (213,376)    (227,284)    (79,753)
Proceeds from issuance of common shares     -    254,931    -
Distributions to shareholders and minority interests     (178,142)    (166,234)    (148,318)
Redemption of perpetual preferred units    -    -    (17,500)
Repayment of employee notes receivable     190    150    1,900    
Repurchase of common shares and units    (200,467)    (170)    (5,688)
Net increase (decrease) in accounts receivable – affi liates    (1,452)    382    (1,439)
Common share options exercised     3,795    4,155    9,238    
Payment of deferred fi nancing costs     (5,113)    (2,945)    (7,247)
Other       1,130    1,971    (77)

  Net cash from fi nancing activities     123,555    (180,044)    6,039    
Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     (137)    (542)    (677)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year     1,034    1,576    2,253    
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 897 $ 1,034 $ 1,576    

Supplemental information
Cash paid for interest, net of interest capitalized $ 114,531 $ 121,396 $ 106,020
Cash paid for income taxes     2,555    -    -

Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and 
fi nancing activities
Acquisition of Summit, net of cash acquired, at fair value

  Assets acquired $ - $ 1,881 $ 1,591,899
  Liabilities assumed     -    1,881    982,966
  Common shares issued     -    -    544,065
  Common units issued     -    -    81,564

Value of shares issued under benefi t plans, net     15,381    16,144    11,330
Cancellation of notes receivable – affi liate in connection with 

  property acquisition     -    12,053    -
Distributions declared but not paid     42,693    43,068    38,922
Conversion of operating partnership units to common shares    11,638    6,569    424
Minority interests issued in connection with real estate 

  contributions     532    -    -
(Increase) decrease in liabilities associated with construction 

  and capital expenditures     40    (5,261)    (5,493)
Contribution of real estate assets to joint ventures     -    33,493    45,297
Assumption of debt by joint venture     -    30,525    -
Common units issued in connection with investment in joint venture     -    1,900    -

            

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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1.  DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Business.  Formed on May 25, 1993, Camden Property Trust, a Texas real estate investment trust (“REIT”), is engaged 
in the ownership, development, construction and management of multifamily apartment communities.  Our multifamily 
apartment communities are referred to as “communities,” “multifamily communities,” “properties,” or “multifamily 
properties” in the following discussion.  As of December 31, 2007, we owned interests in, operated or were developing 
193 multifamily properties comprising 66,468 apartment homes located in 13 states.  We had 3,383 apartment homes 
under development at 11 of our multifamily properties, including 1,257 apartment homes at four multifamily properties 
owned through joint ventures, 2,126 apartment homes at seven operating properties, and several sites we intend to 
develop into multifamily apartment communities.  Additionally, two properties comprised of 391 apartment homes were 
designated as held for sale.  

 2.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Principles of Consolidation.  Our consolidated fi nancial statements include our assets, liabilities and operations 
and those of our wholly-owned subsidiaries and partnerships.  We also make co-investments with unrelated third 
parties and determine whether to consolidate or use the equity method of accounting for these ventures.  FASB 
Interpretation No. 46R, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (as revised) and Emerging Issues Task Force No. “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (as revised) and Emerging Issues Task Force No. “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities”
04-05, “Determining Whether a General Partner, or the General Partners as a Group, Controls a Limited Partnership 
or Similar Entity When the Limited Partners Have Certain Rights” are two of the primary sources of accounting or Similar Entity When the Limited Partners Have Certain Rights” are two of the primary sources of accounting or Similar Entity When the Limited Partners Have Certain Rights”
guidance in this area.  In accordance with this accounting literature, we will consolidate joint ventures determined 
to be variable interest entities for which we are the primary benefi ciary.  We will also consolidate any joint ventures 
that are not determined to be variable interest entities but where we exercise control over major operating decisions 
through substantive participating rights.  Any entities that do not meet the criteria for consolidation, but where we 
exercise signifi cant infl uence are accounted for using the equity method.  All signifi cant intercompany accounts and 
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Allocations of Purchase Price.  Upon the acquisition of real estate, we allocate the purchase price between tangible 
and intangible assets, which includes land, buildings, furniture and fi xtures, the value of in-place leases, including 
above and below market leases, and acquired liabilities.  When allocating the purchase price to acquired properties, 
we allocated costs to the estimated intangible value of in-place leases and above or below market leases and to 
the estimated fair value of furniture and fi xtures, land and buildings on a value determined by assuming the property 
was vacant by applying methods similar to those used by independent appraisers of income-producing property.  
Depreciation and amortization is computed on a straight-line basis over the remaining useful lives of the related assets.  
The value of in-place leases and above or below market leases is amortized over the estimated average remaining 
life of leases in-place at the time of acquisition.  Estimates of fair value of acquired debt are based upon interest rates 
available for the issuance of debt with similar terms and remaining maturities.

Asset Impairment.  Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.  Impairment exists if estimated future undiscounted 
cash fl ows associated with long-lived assets are not suffi cient to recover the carrying value of such assets.  Generally, 
when impairment exists the long-lived asset is adjusted to its respective fair value.

We consider projected future undiscounted cash fl ows, trends, and other factors in our assessment of whether 
impairment conditions exist.  While we believe our estimates of future cash fl ows are reasonable, different assumptions 
regarding such factors as market rents, economies, and occupancies could signifi cantly affect these estimates.  In 
determining fair value, management uses appraisals, management estimates, or discounted cash fl ow calculations.  We 
recorded impairment charges on land of $1.4 million and $0.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2005.  
Our impairment charge in 2007 coincided with our decision to abandon development efforts at a site located in Dallas, 
Texas.  Prior to our decision to abandon development efforts, the carrying value of the land was supportable with cash 
fl ow projections from expected development.  
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Cash and Cash Equivalents.  All cash and investments in money market accounts and other highly liquid securities with 
a maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase are considered to be cash and cash equivalents.

Cost Capitalization.  Real estate assets are carried at cost plus capitalized carrying charges.  Carrying charges are 
primarily interest and real estate taxes which are capitalized as part of properties under development.  Expenditures 
directly related to the development, acquisition and improvement of real estate assets, excluding internal costs 
relating to acquisitions of operating properties, are capitalized at cost as land, buildings and improvements.  Indirect 
development costs, including salaries and benefi ts and other related costs directly attributable to the development of 
properties are also capitalized.  All construction and carrying costs are capitalized and reported on the balance sheet 
in properties under development until the apartment homes are substantially completed.  Upon substantial completion 
of the apartment homes, the total cost for the apartment homes and the associated land is transferred to buildings and 
improvements and land, respectively, and the assets are depreciated over their estimated useful lives using the straight-
line method of depreciation. 

Where possible, we stage our construction to allow leasing and occupancy during the construction period, which we 
believe minimizes the duration of the lease-up period following completion of construction.  Our accounting policy 
related to properties in the development and leasing phase is all operating expenses associated with completed 
apartment homes are expensed.

As discussed above, carrying charges are principally interest and real estate taxes capitalized as part of properties 
under development and buildings and improvements.  Capitalized interest was $22.6 million in 2007, $20.6 million in 2006 
and $17.5 million in 2005.  Capitalized real estate taxes were $3.5 million, $2.6 million and $2.5 million in 2007, 2006 and 
2005, respectively.  

We capitalize renovation and improvement costs we believe extend the economic lives of depreciable property.  Capital 
expenditures subsequent to initial construction are capitalized and depreciated over their estimated useful lives, which 
range from 3 to 20 years.

Depreciation and amortization is computed over the expected useful lives of depreciable property on a straight-line 
basis with lives generally as follows:

Derivative Instruments.  We utilize derivative fi nancial instruments to manage interest rate risk and we designate 
the fi nancial instruments as cash fl ow hedges under the guidance of SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative 
Instruments and Hedging Activities,” SFAS No. 138, Instruments and Hedging Activities,” SFAS No. 138, Instruments and Hedging Activities,” “Accounting for Certain Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities, 
an Amendment of Statement No. 133,” and SFAS 149, an Amendment of Statement No. 133,” and SFAS 149, an Amendment of Statement No. 133,” “Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and 
Hedging Activities.”  These statements require every derivative instrument to be recorded on the balance sheet Hedging Activities.”  These statements require every derivative instrument to be recorded on the balance sheet Hedging Activities.”
as either an asset or liability measured at its fair value, with changes in fair value recognized currently in earnings 
unless specifi c hedge accounting criteria are met.  For cash fl ow hedge relationships, changes in the fair value of the 
derivative instrument deemed effective at offsetting the risk being hedged are reported in other comprehensive income.  
For cash fl ow hedges where the cumulative changes in the fair value of the derivative exceed the cumulative changes 
in the fair value of the hedged item, the ineffective portion is recognized in current period earnings.  All derivative 
instruments are recognized on the balance sheet and measured at fair value.  Derivatives not qualifying for hedge 
treatment must be recorded at fair value with gains or losses recognized in earnings in the period of change.  We enter 
into derivative fi nancial instruments from time to time, but do not use them for trading or speculative purposes.  Interest 
rate swap agreements are used to reduce the potential impact of changes in interest rates on variable-rate debt.  

     
  ESTIMATED USEFUL LIFE

Buildings and improvements 5-35 years
Furniture, fi xtures, equipment and other 3-20 years
Intangible assets (in-place leases and above and below market leases) underlying lease term
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We formally document all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as our risk management 
objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge.  This process includes specifi c identifi cation of the hedging instrument 
and the hedged transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged, and how the hedging instrument’s effectiveness in 
hedging the exposure to the hedged transaction’s variability in cash fl ows attributable to the hedged risk will be assessed 
and measured.  Both at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, we assess whether the derivatives used 
in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in cash fl ows or fair values of hedged items.  We 
discontinue hedge accounting if a derivative is not determined to be highly effective as a hedge or has ceased to be a 
highly effective hedge.

As of December 31, 2007, we had $500 million in variable rate debt subject to cash fl ow hedges.  See Note 12, “Derivative 
Instruments and Hedging Activities” for further discussion of derivative fi nancial instruments.

Accumulated other comprehensive income or loss on the Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity, refl ects the 
effective portions of cumulative changes in the fair value of derivatives in qualifying cash fl ow hedge relationships.

Discontinued Operations.  The results of operations for properties sold during the period or classifi ed as held for sale at 
the end of the current period are required to be classifi ed as discontinued operations in the current and prior periods.  The 
property-specifi c components of earnings that are classifi ed as discontinued operations include separately identifi able 
property-specifi c revenues, expenses, depreciation and interest expense, if any.  The gain or loss on the eventual disposal 
of the held for sale properties is also classifi ed as discontinued operations.  Real estate assets held for sale are measured 
at the lower of the carrying amount or the fair value less costs to sell, and are presented separately in the accompanying 
consolidated balance sheets.  Subsequent to classifi cation of a property as held for sale, no further depreciation is 
recorded.  Properties sold by our unconsolidated entities are not included in discontinued operations and related gains or 
losses are reported as a component of equity in income of joint ventures. 

Gains on sale of real estate are recognized using the full accrual or partial sale methods, as applicable, in accordance with 
SFAS No. 66 “Accounting for Real Estate Sales,” provided various criteria relating to the terms of sale and any subsequent 
involvement with the real estate sold are met.

Income Recognition.  Our rental and other property income is recorded when due from residents and is recognized 
monthly as it is earned.  Other property income consists primarily of utility rebillings, and administrative, application and 
other transactional fees charged to our residents.  Our apartment homes are rented to residents on lease terms generally 
ranging from 6 to 15 months, with monthly payments due in advance.  Interest, fee and asset management and all other 
sources of income are recognized as earned.  Two of our properties are subject to rent control or rent stabilization.  
Operations of apartment properties acquired are recorded from the date of acquisition in accordance with the purchase 
method of accounting.  In management’s opinion, due to the number of residents, the type and diversity of submarkets in 
which the properties operate, and the collection terms, there is no signifi cant concentration of credit risk.

Insurance.  Our primary lines of insurance coverage are property, general liability, health and workers’ compensation.  We 
believe our insurance coverage adequately insures our properties against the risk of loss attributable to fi re, earthquake, 
hurricane, tornado, fl ood and other perils and adequately insures us against other risks.  Losses are accrued based upon 
our estimates of the aggregate liability for claims incurred using certain actuarial assumptions followed in the insurance 
industry and based on our experience.

Other Assets, Net.  Other assets in our consolidated fi nancial statements include investments under deferred 
compensation plans, deferred fi nancing costs, non-real estate leasehold improvements and equipment, prepaid expenses, 
the value of in-place leases net of related accumulated amortization, and other miscellaneous receivables.  Investments 
under deferred compensation plans are held as trading securities and are adjusted to fair market value at period end.  See 
further discussion of our investments under deferred compensation plans in Note 13, “Shared Based Compensation and 
Benefi t Plans.”  Deferred fi nancing costs are amortized over the terms of the related debt on the straight-line method, 
which approximates the effective interest method.  Corporate leasehold improvements and equipment are depreciated on 
the straight-line method over the shorter of the expected useful lives or the lease terms which range from 3 to 10 years.  
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Reclassifi cations.  Certain reclassifi cations have been made to amounts in prior period fi nancial statements to conform 
to current period presentations.  We reclassifi ed nine properties previously included in continuing operations to 
discontinued operations during the year ended December 31, 2007.  Please see further discussion of assets held for sale 
in Note 7, “Property Acquisitions, Dispositions and Assets Held for Sale.”

Reportable Segments.  Our multifamily communities are geographically diversifi ed throughout the United States and 
management evaluates operating performance on an individual property level.  As each of our apartment communities 
has similar economic characteristics, residents, and products and services, our apartment communities have been 
aggregated into one reportable segment.  Our multifamily communities generate rental revenue and other income 
through the leasing of apartment homes, which comprised 96%, 95% and 95% of our total consolidated revenues, 
excluding non-recurring gains on technology investments, for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, 
respectively.  

Restricted Cash.  Restricted cash consists of escrow deposits held by lenders for property taxes, insurance and 
replacement reserves, cash required to be segregated for the repayment of residents’ security deposits and escrowed 
amounts related to our development activities.  Substantially all restricted cash is invested in demand and short-term 
instruments.

Share Based Compensation.  We account for share-based awards under SFAS 123(R), with compensation expense 
being recognized in our statement of operations using the grant-date fair values.  Compensation cost for all share-
based awards, including options, requires measurement at fair value on the grant date and recognition of compensation 
expense over the requisite service period for awards expected to vest. Share awards can have vesting periods of 
up to ten years.  The fair value of stock option grants was determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model.  The 
compensation cost for share awards is based on the market value of the shares on the date of grant.

Third-Party Construction Services.  Our construction division performs services for our internally developed 
communities, as well as provides construction management and general contracting services for third-party owners of 
multifamily, commercial and retail properties.  Income from these third-party projects is recognized on a percentage-of-
completion basis with progress measured on a cost-to-cost basis.  For projects where our fee is based on a fi xed price, 
any cost overruns, as compared to the original budget, incurred during construction will reduce the fee generated on 
those projects.  For any project where cost overruns are expected to be in excess of the fee generated on the project, 
we will recognize the total projected loss in the period in which the loss is fi rst estimated.  See Note 9, “Third Party 
Construction Services” for further discussion of our third-party construction services.
        
Use of Estimates.  In the application of accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, 
management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
at the date of the fi nancial statements, results of operations during the reporting periods, and related disclosures.  Our 
more signifi cant estimates relate to determining the allocation of the purchase price of our acquisitions, estimates 
supporting our impairment analysis related to the carrying values of our real estate assets, estimates of the useful lives 
of our assets, general liability and employee benefi t programs, and estimates of expected losses of variable interest 
entities.  These estimates are based on historical experience and various other assumptions believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances.  Future events rarely develop exactly as forecast, and the best estimates routinely require 
adjustment.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements.  In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FASB 
Interpretation No. (“FIN”) 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an Interpretation of FASB Statement 
No. 109.”  FIN 48 prescribes a two-step process for the fi nancial statement recognition and measurement of tax 
positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return.  The fi rst step involves evaluation of a tax position to determine 
whether it is more likely than not the position will be sustained upon examination, based on the technical merits of the 
position.  The second step involves measuring the benefi t to recognize in the fi nancial statements for those tax positions 
that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold.
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We adopted FIN 48 as of January 1, 2007. If various tax positions related to certain real estate dispositions were not 
sustained upon examination, we would have been required to pay a defi ciency dividend and associated interest for 
prior years.  Accordingly, we decreased distributions in excess of net income as of January 1, 2007 for the adoption 
impact of FIN 48 by approximately $2.5 million.  Our period of uncertainty with respect to these real estate dispositions 
expired during fi scal year 2007, and we recorded a net credit to interest expense of approximately $2.5 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2007.  The tax years ended December 31, 2004, 2005, and 2006 remain subject to examination 
by major tax jurisdictions as of December 31, 2007. We believe we have no uncertain tax positions or unrecognized tax 
benefi ts requiring disclosure. We may from time to time be assessed interest or penalties by major tax jurisdictions, 
although any such assessments historically have been minimal and immaterial to our fi nancial results.  In the event we 
receive an assessment for interest and/or penalties, it will be classifi ed in the fi nancial statements as tax expense.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements.”  SFAS No. 157 defi nes fair value, “Fair Value Measurements.”  SFAS No. 157 defi nes fair value, “Fair Value Measurements.”
establishes a framework for measuring fair value in GAAP and expands disclosures about fair value measurements.  
The statement does not require new fair value measurements, but is applied to the extent other accounting 
pronouncements require or permit fair value measurements.  The statement emphasizes fair value as a market-based 
measurement which should be determined based on assumptions market participants would use in pricing an asset 
or liability.  We will be required to disclose the extent to which fair value is used to measure assets and liabilities, the 
inputs used to develop the measurements, and the effect of certain of the measurements on earnings (or changes in net 
assets) for the period.  SFAS No. 157 is effective for fi scal years beginning after November 15, 2007.  In February 2008 
the FASB deferred the effective date of SFAS No. 157 for all nonfi nancial assets and nonfi nancial liabilities except for 
those that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the fi nancial statements on a recurring basis.  We have adopted 
SFAS No. 157 effective January 1, 2008 for fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities and do not expect this adoption 
to have a material effect on our consolidated results of operations or fi nancial position but will enhance the level of 
disclosures for assets and liabilities recorded at fair value.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities,” 
which gives entities the option to measure eligible fi nancial assets, fi nancial liabilities and fi rm commitments at 
fair value on an instrument-by-instrument basis (i.e., the fair value option), which are otherwise not permitted to be 
accounted for at fair value under other accounting standards.  The election to use the fair value option is available 
when an entity fi rst recognizes a fi nancial asset or fi nancial liability or upon entering into a fi rm commitment. 
Subsequent changes in fair value must be recorded in earnings.  Additionally, SFAS No. 159 allows for a one-time 
election for existing positions upon adoption, with the transition adjustment recorded to beginning retained earnings. 
This statement is effective for fi scal years beginning after November 15, 2007.  We have adopted this standard effective 
January 1, 2008 and have elected not to measure any of our current eligible fi nancial assets or liabilities at fair value 
upon adoption; however, we do reserve the right to elect to measure future eligible fi nancial assets or liabilities at fair 
value.

In September 2007, the FASB ratifi ed Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue 07-6, “Accounting for the Sale of 
Real Estate Subject to the Requirements of FASB Statement No. 66 When the Agreement Includes a Buy-Sell Clause,”
which clarifi es that a buy-sell clause, in and of itself, does not constitute a prohibited form of continuing involvement 
that would preclude partial sale treatment under Statement 66.  EITF 07-6 applies prospectively to new arrangements 
entered into in fi scal years beginning after December 15, 2007.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R), “Business Combinations,”  which replaces SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations,”  which replaces SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations,”
“Business Combinations,” which, among other things, establishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer “Business Combinations,” which, among other things, establishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer “Business Combinations,”
entity recognizes and measures in its fi nancial statements the identifi able assets acquired, the liabilities assumed 
(including intangibles) and any noncontrolling interests in the acquired entity.  SFAS No. 141(R) applies prospectively 
to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the fi rst annual reporting period 
beginning on or after December 15, 2008.  We are currently evaluating what impact our adoption of SFAS No. 141(R) will 
have on our fi nancial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements, 
an amendment of ARB No. 51.”  SFAS No. 160 amends ARB 51 to establish accounting and reporting standards for an amendment of ARB No. 51.”  SFAS No. 160 amends ARB 51 to establish accounting and reporting standards for an amendment of ARB No. 51.”
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the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary.  It also amends certain of ARB 
51’s consolidation procedures for consistency with the requirements of SFAS No. 141(R).  SFAS No. 160 is effective for 
fi scal years, and interim periods within those fi scal years, beginning on or after December 15, 2008.  We are currently 
evaluating what impact our adoption of SFAS No. 160 will have on our fi nancial statements.

3.   SHARE DATA

Basic earnings per share is computed using income from continuing operations and the weighted average number 
of common shares outstanding.  Diluted earnings per share refl ects common shares issuable from the assumed 
conversion of common share options and awards granted and units convertible into common shares.  Only those items 
that have a dilutive impact on our basic earnings per share are included in diluted earnings per share.  For the years 
ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, 3.0 million and 1.7 million units convertible into common shares, respectively, were 
excluded from the diluted earnings per share calculated as they were not dilutive. 

The following table presents information necessary to calculate basic and diluted earnings per share for the periods 
indicated:

In 1998, we began repurchasing our common equity securities under a program approved by our Board of Trust 
Managers who authorized us to repurchase or redeem up to $250 million of our securities through open market 
purchases and private transactions.  We repurchased approximately 8.8 million common shares and redeemed 
approximately 106,000 common units for a total cost of $243.6 million under this repurchase program.  At December 31, 
2006 and 2005, 8.6 million shares were held in treasury.  No shares or units were repurchased under this program during 
2006 and 2005.  We are currently holding 8.6 million shares in treasury repurchased under this program, and no shares or 
units have been repurchased under this program since 2002.

In April 2007, our Board of Directors approved a program to repurchase up to $250 million of our common equity 
securities through open market purchases, block purchases, and privately negotiated transactions.  We intend to use 
the proceeds from asset sales and borrowings under our secured line of credit to fund any share repurchases.  Under 
this share repurchase program, we repurchased 3.6 million shares for a total of $200.2 million during 2007.

year ended december 31,

(in thousands, except per share amounts) 2007 2006 2005
Basic earnings per share calculation

Income from continuing operations $ 47,078 $ 125,016 $ 151,526
  Income from discontinued operations    101,379    107,830  47,560

Net income $ 148,457 $ 232,846 $ 199,086
Income from continuing operations – per share $ 0.81 $ 2.21 $ 2.91

  Income from discontinued operations – per share     1.74    1.90  0.92
Net income – per share $ 2.55 $ 4.11 $ 3.83
 Weighted average number of common shares outstanding     58,135    56,660  52,000

Diluted earnings per share calculation
Income from continuing operations  $ 47,078 $ 125,016 $ 151,526

  Income allocated to common units    27    2,432  1,560
Income from continuing operations, as adjusted     47,105    127,448  153,086

  Income from discontinued operations    101,379    107,830  47,560
  Income from discontinued operations allocated to 
   common units    -    652  956

Net income, as adjusted $ 148,484 $ 235,930 $ 201,602
Income from continuing operations, as adjusted – per share $ 0.80 $ 2.14 $ 2.72

   Income from discontinued operations – per share     1.71    1.82  0.86
Net income, as adjusted – per share $ 2.51 $ 3.96 $ 3.58
Weighted average common shares outstanding     58,135    56,660  52,000
Incremental shares issuable from assumed conversion of:

  Common share options and awards granted     482    725  483
  Common units     508    2,139  3,830

Weighted average common shares outstanding, as adjusted     59,125    59,524  56,313
            

$
  

  

  

  
  
  

  

  

  

  
  
  

Net income – per share 
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Subsequent to December 31, 2007, we repurchased an additional 690,400 shares for a total of $30.0 million.  In January 
2008, our Board of Trust Managers approved the repurchase of up to an additional $250.0 million of our common equity 
securities.

In June 2006, we issued 3.6 million common shares at $71.25 per share in a public equity offering.  We used the net 
proceeds of $254.9 million to reduce indebtedness on our unsecured line of credit and for general corporate purposes.

We fi led an automatic shelf registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission in June 2006 which 
became effective upon fi ling.  We may use the shelf registration statement to offer, from time to time, common shares, 
preferred shares, debt securities or warrants.  Our declaration of trust provides that we may issue up to 110,000,000 
shares of benefi cial interest, consisting of 100,000,000 common shares and 10,000,000 preferred shares.  As of 
December 31, 2007, we had 65,434,369 common shares outstanding under our declaration of trust.

4.  MERGER WITH SUMMIT PROPERTIES INC.

On February 28, 2005, Summit Properties Inc. (“Summit”) was merged with and into Camden Summit Inc., one of our 
wholly-owned subsidiaries (“Camden Summit”), pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of October 4, 
2004 (the “Merger Agreement”), as amended.  At the time of the merger, Summit was the sole general partner of Summit 
Properties Partnership, L.P. (the “Camden Summit Partnership”).  At the effective time, Camden Summit became the sole 
general partner of the Camden Summit Partnership and the name of such partnership was changed to Camden Summit 
Partnership, L.P.  As of February 28, 2005, Summit owned or held an ownership interest in 48 operating communities 
comprised of 15,002 apartment homes with an additional 1,834 apartment homes under construction in fi ve new 
communities.

5. OPERATING PARTNERSHIP AND MINORITY INTERESTS

At December 31, 2007, approximately 11% of our multifamily apartment homes were held in Camden Operating, L.P. 
(“Camden Operating”).  Camden Operating has issued both common and preferred limited partnership units.  As 
of December 31, 2007, we held 85.3% of the common limited partnership units and the sole 1% general partnership 
interest of the operating partnership.  The remaining common limited partnership units, comprising 1,625,400 units, 
are primarily held by former offi cers, directors and investors of Paragon Group, Inc., which we acquired in 1997.  Each 
common limited partnership unit is redeemable for one common share of Camden or cash at our election.  Holders of 
common limited partnership units are not entitled to rights as shareholders prior to redemption of their common limited 
partnership units.  No member of our management owns Camden Operating common limited partnership units, and two 
of our nine trust managers own Camden Operating common limited partnership units.

Camden Operating has $100 million of 7.0% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Units outstanding.  
Distributions on the preferred units are payable quarterly in arrears.  The Series B preferred units are redeemable 
beginning in December 2008 by the operating partnership for cash at par plus the amount of any accumulated 
and unpaid distributions.  The preferred units are convertible beginning in 2013 by the holder into a fi xed number 
of corresponding Series B Cumulative Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Shares.  The Series B preferred units are 
subordinate to present and future debt.  Distributions on the Series B preferred units totaled $7.0 million for the years 
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. 

Additionally, Camden Operating had issued $53 million of 8.25% Series C Cumulative Redeemable Perpetual Preferred 
Units.  In January 2005, we redeemed the remaining 0.7 million Series C preferred units at their redemption price of 
$25.00 per unit, or an aggregate of $17.5 million, plus accrued and unpaid distributions, at which time we expensed the 
issuance cost associated with these units.  Distributions on the Series C preferred units totaled $28,000 for the year 
ended December 31, 2005.

In conjunction with our acquisition of Oasis Residential, Inc. in 1998, we acquired the controlling managing member 
interest in Oasis Martinique, LLC, which owns one property in Orange County, California and is included in our 
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year ended december 31,

2007 2006 2005(1)

Common Share Distributions
Ordinary income $ 1.20 $ 0.26 $ 0.11
Post May 5, 2004 long-term capital gain    1.18    1.85  2.28
25% Sec. 1250 capital gain     0.38    0.53  0.79

Total    $ 2.76 $ 2.64 $ 3.18
Percentage of distributions representing tax preference items     7.15%    5.99%  3.91%

(1)  The dividend declared for the fourth quarter of 2004, with a record date of January 3, 2005, was taxable in 2005.

consolidated fi nancial statements.  The remaining interests, comprising 669,348 units, are exchangeable into 508,035 
common shares.

At December 31, 2007, approximately 23% of our multifamily apartment homes were held in the Camden Summit 
Partnership, as discussed in Note 4, “Merger with Summit Properties Inc.”  This operating partnership has issued 
common limited partnership units.  As of December 31, 2007, we held 93.1% of the common limited partnership units and 
the sole 1% general partnership interest of the Camden Summit Partnership.  The remaining common limited partnership 
units, comprising 1,356,162 units, are primarily held by former offi cers, directors and investors of Summit.  Each 
common limited partnership unit is redeemable for one common share of Camden or cash at our election.  Holders of 
common limited partnership units are not entitled to rights as shareholders prior to redemption of their common limited 
partnership units.  No member of our management owns Camden Summit Partnership common limited partnership units, 
and two of our nine trust managers own Camden Summit Partnership common limited partnership units. 

6.   INCOME TAXES

We have maintained and intend to maintain our election as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended.  To qualify as a REIT, we must meet a number of organizational and operational requirements, including a 
requirement we distribute at least 90% of our taxable income to our shareholders.  As a REIT, we generally will not be 
subject to federal income tax if we distribute 100% of our taxable income to our shareholders and satisfy certain other 
requirements.  Income tax is paid directly by our shareholders on the dividends distributed to them.  If our taxable 
income exceeds our dividends in a tax year, REIT tax rules allow us to designate dividends from the subsequent tax 
year in order to avoid current taxation on undistributed income.  For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, we 
designated dividends from 2007 and 2006, respectively, to meet our dividend distribution requirements.  If we fail to 
qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, we will be subject to federal income taxes at regular corporate rates, including 
any applicable alternative minimum tax.  Taxable income from non-REIT activities managed through taxable REIT 
subsidiaries is subject to applicable federal, state and local income taxes.  

The following table reconciles net income to REIT taxable income for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:

A schedule of per share distributions we paid and reported to our shareholders is set forth in the following tables: 

year ended december 31,

(in thousands) 2007 2006 2005
Net income $ 148,457 $ 232,846 $ 199,086

Net (income) loss of taxable REIT subsidiaries included above     (3,449)    (6,540)  6,871
Net income from REIT operations     145,008    226,306  205,957

Book depreciation and amortization, including discontinued operations      164,978    163,673  174,993
Tax depreciation and amortization (155,173)    (177,153)  (142,303)
Book/tax difference on gains/losses from capital transactions     (24,538)    (90,694)  5,439
Book/tax difference on merger costs     (234)    (331)  (21,024)
Other book/tax differences, net     7,843    (767)  (17,867)

REIT taxable income     137,884    121,034  205,195
Dividends paid deduction (144,604)    (121,034)  (205,195)

Dividends paid in excess of taxable income $ (6,720) $ - $ -Dividends paid in excess of taxable income 
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At December 31, 2007, our taxable REIT subsidiaries had net operating loss carryforwards (“NOL’s”) of approximately 
$16.0 million for income tax purposes that expire in years 2020 to 2027.  Because NOL’s are subject to certain change of 
ownership and separate return limitations, and because it is unlikely the available NOL’s will be utilized, no benefi ts of 
these NOL’s have been recognized in these consolidated fi nancial statements.  

SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” requires a public enterprise to disclose the aggregate difference in 
the basis of its net assets for fi nancial and tax reporting purposes.  The carrying value reported in our consolidated 
fi nancial statements exceeded the tax basis by $1,141.6 million.

Income Tax Expense –Income Tax Expense –Income Tax Expense  Current.  For the tax year ended December 31, 2007, we have current income tax expense of $3.1 
million.  Included in that number is $1.0 million in margin taxes (see below discussion), $0.5 million in federal income 
taxes on our taxable REIT subsidiaries, and $1.6 million in state taxes in our operating partnerships.  

Texas Margin Tax.  On May 18, 2006, the Texas Governor signed into law a Texas margin tax which restructures the 
state business tax by replacing the taxable capital components of the current franchise tax with a “taxable margin” 
component.  Since the tax base on the Texas margin tax is derived from an income based measure, we believe the 
margin tax is an income tax and, therefore, the provisions of SFAS 109 regarding the recognition of deferred taxes apply 
to the margin tax.  In accordance with SFAS 109, the effect on deferred tax liabilities of a change in tax law should be 
included in tax expense attributable to continuing operations in the period including the enactment date.  As a result, 
we calculated our deferred tax assets and liabilities for Texas based on the margin tax.  The cumulative effect of the 
change was immaterial and the impact of the change in deferred tax liabilities did not have a material impact on tax 
expense.  For 2007, we incurred tax expense related to this margin tax of $1.1 million.

7.    PROPERTY ACQUISITIONS, DISPOSITIONS AND ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Acquisitions.  In April 2007, we acquired Camden South Congress, a 253-apartment home community located in Austin, 
Texas for $42.8 million and in June 2007, we acquired Camden Royal Palms, a 352-apartment home community located in 
Tampa, Florida for $41.1 million.  Both properties were purchased using proceeds from our unsecured line of credit.  The 
purchase prices of these properties were allocated to the tangible and intangible assets and liabilities acquired based 
on their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition.  

Discontinued Operations and Assets Held for Sale.  For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, income 
from discontinued operations included the results of operations of two operating properties, containing 391 apartment 
homes, classifi ed as held for sale at December 31, 2007 and the results of operations of ten operating properties sold in 
2007 through their sale dates.  For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, income from discontinued operations 
also included the results of operations of eight operating properties sold during 2006 and three operating properties 
sold during 2005 through their sale dates.  As of December 31, 2007, the two operating properties held for sale had a 
combined net book value of $15.5 million.  

The following is a summary of income from discontinued operations for the years presented below: 

Upon our decision to abandon efforts to develop certain land parcels and to market these parcels for sale, we 
reclassifi ed the operating expenses associated with these assets to discontinued operations.  At December 31, 2007, 
we had undeveloped land parcels classifi ed as held for sale as follows:

year ended december 31,

(in thousands) 2007 2006 2005
Total property revenues $ 20,932 $ 36,686  48,489
Total property expenses     10,570    19,083  24,239

Net operating income     10,362    17,603  24,250
Interest       472    482  496
Depreciation and amortization    2,033    6,257  11,413

Income from discontinued operations $ 7,857 $ 10,864  12,341
Gain on sale of discontinued operations $ 107,039 $ 99,273 $ 36,175

Income from discontinued operations 
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Asset Dispositions and Partial Sales to Joint Ventures.  During the year ended December 31, 2006, we recognized gains 
of $91.5 million from the partial sale of nine properties to an affi liated unconsolidated joint venture.  This partial sale 
generated net proceeds of approximately $170.9 million.  During the year ended December 31, 2005, we recognized gains 
of $132.1 million from the partial sales of twelve properties to twelve affi liated unconsolidated joint ventures.  These 
partial sales generated net proceeds of approximately $316.8 million.  The gains recognized on the partial sales of these 
assets were included in continuing operations as we retained a partial interest in the ventures which own these assets.  

During the year ended December 31, 2006, we recognized gains of $0.5 million and $4.7 million on the partial sales of land 
to two joint ventures located in Houston, Texas and College Park, Maryland, respectively.  The gains recognized on the 
sales of these assets were included in continuing operations as we retained a partial interest in the ventures which own 
these assets.  

During the year ended December 31, 2006, we recognized a gain of $0.8 million on the sale of land located adjacent to 
one of our pre-development assets in College Park, Maryland.  During the year ended December 31, 2005, we recognized 
a gain of $0.8 million on the sale of land located adjacent to one of our pre-development assets in Houston, Texas.  
Also during 2005, we sold undeveloped land adjacent to one of our operating properties located in Dallas, Texas to an 
unrelated third party.  In connection with our decision to sell this undeveloped land, we recognized an impairment loss of 
$0.3 million.  The gains on these sales were not included in discontinued operations as the operations and cash fl ows of 
these assets were not clearly distinguished, operationally or for reporting purposes, from the adjacent assets.

8.   INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

The joint ventures described below are accounted for using the equity method.  The joint ventures in which we have 
an interest have been funded with secured, third-party debt.  We have guaranteed our proportionate interest on 
construction loans in fi ve of our development joint ventures totaling $65.7 million.  We believe it is unlikely that signifi cant 
payments will be required under these guarantees.  Additionally, we eliminate fee income from property management 
services to the extent of our ownership. 

Our contributions of real estate assets to joint ventures at formation where we receive cash are treated as partial sales 
and, as a result, the amounts recorded as gain on sale of assets to joint ventures represents the change in ownership of 
the underlying assets.  Our initial investment is determined based on our ownership percentage in the net book value of 
the underlying assets on the date of the transaction.

As of December 31, 2007, our equity investments in unconsolidated joint ventures accounted for under the equity method 
of accounting consisted of:

•  A 20% interest in Sierra-Nevada Multifamily Investments, LLC (“Sierra-Nevada”), which owns 14 apartment 
communities with 3,098 apartment homes located in Las Vegas.  We are providing property management services 
to Sierra-Nevada and fees earned for these services totaled $1.0 million, $1.0 million and $1.1 million for the years 
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.  At December 31, 2007, Sierra-Nevada had total assets of 
$131.3 million and third-party secured debt totaling $179.9 million.

•  A 50% interest in Denver West Apartments, LLC (“Denver West”), which owns Camden Denver West, a 320-
apartment home community located in Denver, Colorado.  We are providing property management services to 
Denver West and fees earned for these services totaled $0.1 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2007, 
2006 and 2005, respectively.  At December 31, 2007, Denver West had total assets of $21.7 million and third-party 
secured debt totaling $27.4 million.

($ in millions)    
LOCATION ACRES NET BOOK VALUE

Southeast Florida 2.2 $ 7.2
Dallas    2.4  1.8

 Total land held for sale   $ 9.0
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•  A 20% interest in 12 apartment communities containing 4,034 apartment homes located in the Las Vegas, Phoenix, 
Houston, Dallas and Orange County, California markets, (the “TG Properties”).  We are providing property 
management services to the joint ventures and fees earned for these services totaled $1.1 million, $1.1 million and 
$0.8 million, for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.  At December 31, 2007, the joint 
ventures had total assets of $381.0 million and had third-party secured debt totaling $272.6 million.

•  A 30% interest in Camden Plaza, LP to which we sold undeveloped land located in Houston, Texas in January 
2006.  The joint venture is a 271-apartment home community for which construction completed during 2007.  We 
are providing property management services to this joint venture and fees earned for these services totaled $0.1 
million for the year ended December 31, 2007.  We provided construction and development services to this joint 
venture which totaled $0.7 million and $1.1 million for 2007 and 2006, respectively.  Concurrent with this transaction, 
we provided a $6.4 million mezzanine loan to the joint venture which had a balance of $8.4 million at December 31, 
2007, and is reported as “Notes receivable – affi liates” as discussed in Note 10, “Notes Receivable.”  At December 
31, 2007, the joint venture had total assets of $41.7 million and had third-party secured debt totaling $30.7 million.

•  A 30% interest in Camden Main & Jamboree, LP to which we contributed $1.4 million in cash and $1.9 million in 
Camden Operating Series B common units in March 2006.  The joint venture purchased Camden Main & Jamboree, 
a 290-apartment home community located in Irvine, California, which is currently under development and has a 
total estimated cost of $112.0 million as of December 31, 2007.  We provided construction management services 
to this joint venture which totaled $1.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2006.  Concurrent with this 
transaction, we provided a mezzanine loan totaling $15.8 million to the joint venture, which had a balance of $20.3 
million at December 31, 2007, and is reported as “Notes receivable – affi liates” as discussed in Note 10, “Notes 
Receivable.”  At December 31, 2007, the joint venture had total assets of $112.6 million and had third-party secured 
debt totaling $80.8 million.

•  A 30% interest in Camden College Park, LP to which we sold undeveloped land located in College Park, Maryland 
in August 2006.  The joint venture is developing a 508-apartment home community and has a total estimated cost 
of $139.9 million as of December 31, 2007.  We are providing property management services to this joint venture 
and fees earned for these services totaled $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. We are providing 
construction and development services to this joint venture which totaled $2.0 million and $1.9 million for 2007 
and 2006, respectively.  Concurrent with this transaction, we provided a mezzanine loan totaling $6.7 million to 
the joint venture, which had a balance of $8.2 million at December 31, 2007, and is reported as “Notes receivable 
– affi liates” as discussed in Note 10, “Notes Receivable.”  At December 31, 2007, the joint venture had total assets 
of $121.4 million and had third-party secured debt totaling $99.8 million.

• A 15% interest in G&I V Midwest Residential LLC (“G&I V”) to which we sold nine apartment communities 
containing 3,237 apartment homes located in Kentucky and Missouri in September 2006.  We are providing property 
management services to the joint venture, and fees earned for these services totaled $0.7 million and $0.2 million 
for 2007 and 2006, respectively.  At December 31, 2007, the joint venture had total assets of $234.7 million and had 
third-party secured debt totaling $169.0 million.

• A 30% interest in two development joint ventures to which we contributed an aggregate of $2.4 million in 
cash.  Each joint venture is developing a multifamily community located in Houston, Texas.  One project has 340 
apartment homes and a total estimated cost of $48.6 million, and the other project has 119 apartment homes at total 
estimated cost of $33.2 million as of December 31, 2007.  Concurrent with this transaction, we provided mezzanine 
loans totaling $9.3 million to the joint ventures, which had a balance of $13.0 million at December 31, 2007, and is 
reported as “Notes receivable – affi liates” as discussed in Note 10, “Notes Receivable.”  We are committed to 
funding an additional $6.2 million under the mezzanine loan.  At December 31, 2007, the joint ventures had total 
assets of $30.5 million and had third-party secured debt totaling $7.4 million.

• A 72% limited partner interest in GrayCo Town Lake Investment 2007 LP to which we contributed $5.8 million in 
cash.  Our venture partner, an unrelated third party, contributed $2.3 million in exchange for a 28% interest in the 



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TOOLS 55

venture comprised of a 0.01% general partner interest and a 27.99% limited partner interest.  The venture has 
purchased approximately 26 acres in Austin, Texas and intends to develop the acreage into multifamily apartment 
homes.  At December 31, 2007, the joint venture had total assets of $24.3 million and third-party secured debt 
totaling $16.3 million.  

• A 30% limited partner interest in a joint venture to which we contributed $0.1 million in cash.  The remaining 
70% interest is owned by an unaffi liated third party who contributed $0.2 million.  The joint venture is the pre-
development stage of an integrated mixed use development.  Concurrent with this transaction, we provided a 
mezzanine loan to the joint venture, which had a balance of $0.4 million at December 31, 2007, and is reported as 
“Notes receivable – affi liates” as discussed in Note 10, “Notes Receivable.”  

The following table summarizes balance sheet fi nancial data of signifi cant unconsolidated joint ventures in which we 
had ownership interests as of December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006:

The following table summarizes income statement fi nancial data of signifi cant unconsolidated joint ventures in which 
we had ownership interests for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:

9.     THIRD-PARTY CONSTRUCTION SERVICES

At December 31, 2007, we were under contract on third-party construction projects ranging from $2.2 million to $8.3 
million.  We earn fees on these projects ranging from 4.2% to 4.8% of the total contracted construction cost, which we 
recognize as earned.  Fees earned from third-party construction projects totaled $1.0 million, $3.3 million and $2.4 million 
for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and are included in “Fee and asset management 
income” in our consolidated statements of operations.  We recorded warranty and repair related costs on third-party 
construction projects of $1.1 million, $5.3 million and $3.4 million during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 
2005, respectively.  These costs are fi rst applied against revenues earned on each project and any excess is included in 
“Fee and asset management expenses” in our consolidated statements of operations.

10.   NOTES RECEIVABLE

Affi liates.  We provided mezzanine construction fi nancing in connection with certain of our joint venture transactions 
as discussed in Note 8, “Investment in Joint Ventures.”  As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the balance of “Notes 
receivable – affi liates” totaled $50.4 million and $41.4 million, respectively.  The notes outstanding as of December 31, 
2007 accrue interest at rates ranging from the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus 3% to 14% per annum and 
mature through 2010.  

Other.  We have a mezzanine fi nancing program under which we provide secured fi nancing to owners of real estate 
properties.  As of December 31, 2007, we had $11.6 million of secured notes receivable due from unrelated third parties.  
These notes, which mature through 2009, accrue interest at rates ranging from the LIBOR plus 2% to Prime Rate plus 1% 

TOTAL ASSETS TOTAL DEBT TOTAL EQUITY
($ in thousands) 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
TG Properties $ 381,039 $ 388,554   $ 272,606  $ 272,606  $ 102,128  $ 109,596
G&I V    234,691   244,754   169,015   169,015   63,594  73,662

    $ 615,730  $ 633,308  $ 441,621  $ 441,621  $ 165,722  $ 183,258

TOTAL REVENUES NET INCOME EQUITY IN INCOME(1)
($ in thousands) 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
TG Properties $ 47,097 $ 45,537 $ 33,577 $ 2,837 $ 2,318 $ (4,160) $ 1,725 $ 1,636 $ 427
G&I V     29,255  7,794  N/A  (3,353)  (1,603)  N/A  364  71  N/A
      $ 76,352 $ 53,331 $ 33,577 $ (516) $ 715 $ (4,160) $ 2,089 $ 1,707 $ 427

(1) Equity in Income excludes our ownership interest in transactions with these joint ventures.
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per annum, which is recognized as earned.  We have reviewed the terms and conditions underlying the outstanding 
notes receivable and believe these notes are collectible, and no impairment existed at December 31, 2007. 

The following is a summary of our notes receivable from third parties under the mezzanine fi nancing program during 
the periods presented, excluding notes receivable from affi liates:

During the year ended December 31, 2006, three loans totaling $9.4 million were repaid.  These loans had rates 
ranging from 12.5% to 14.0%.  Included in these repayments were approximately $0.1 million of prepayment penalties, 
which are included in “Fee and asset management income” in our consolidated statements of operations during the 
year ended December 31, 2006.

11.   DEBT
The following is a summary of our indebtedness:

 december 31,

($ in millions)                                  
LOCATION    PROPERTY TYPE 2007 2006
Houston, Texas Multifamily $ 11.6 $ 3.9

 december 31,

(in millions) 2007 2006
Commercial Banks              

Unsecured line of credit and short-term borrowings $ 115.0 $ 206.0
$500 million term loan, due 2012    500.0    -

              615.0    206.0
Senior unsecured notes              

$50.0 million 4.30% Notes, due 2007     -    51.0
$150.0 million 5.98% Notes, due 2007     -    149.9
$100.0 million 4.74% Notes, due 2009     99.9    99.9
$250.0 million 4.39% Notes, due 2010     249.9    249.9
$100.0 million 6.77% Notes, due 2010     100.0    99.9
$150.0 million 7.69% Notes, due 2011     149.7    149.7
$200.0 million 5.93% Notes, due 2012     199.5    199.4
$200.0 million 5.45% Notes, due 2013     199.2    199.1
$250.0 million 5.08% Notes, due 2015     248.8    248.6
$300.0 million 5.75% Notes, due 2017     299.0    -

              1,546.0    1,447.4
Medium-term notes              

$15.0 million 7.63% Notes, due 2009     15.0    15.0
$25.0 million 4.64% Notes, due 2009     25.9    26.6
$10.0 million 4.90% Notes, due 2010     10.9    11.2
$14.5 million 6.79% Notes, due 2010     14.5    14.5
$35.0 million 4.99% Notes, due 2011     38.0    38.8

              104.3    106.1
Total unsecured debt 2,265.3    1,759.5
              
Secured notes              

4.55% - 8.50% Conventional Mortgage Notes, due 2008 - 2014     498.8    506.4
4.25% - 4.60% Tax-exempt Mortgage Notes, due 2025 - 2028     57.6    58.6
7.29% Tax-exempt Mortgage Note due 2025 on property held 

  for sale as of  December 31, 2007      6.4    6.5
              562.8    571.5
Total debt  $ 2,828.1 $ 2,331.0
              
Floating rate debt included in commercial bank indebtedness 

(4.98% - 5.52%) $ 115.0 $ 206.0
Floating rate tax-exempt debt included in secured notes 

(4.25% - 4.60%)     57.6    58.6
Net book value of real estate assets subject to secured notes     898.9    914.1
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We have a $600 million unsecured credit facility which matures in January 2010.  The scheduled interest rate is based 
on spreads over LIBOR or the Prime Rate.  The scheduled interest rate spreads are subject to change as our credit 
ratings change.  Advances under the line of credit may be priced at the scheduled rates, or we may enter into bid rate 
loans with participating banks at rates below the scheduled rates.  These bid rate loans have terms of six months or 
less and may not exceed the lesser of $300 million or the remaining amount available under the line of credit.  The line of 
credit is subject to customary fi nancial covenants and limitations, all of which we are in compliance.

Our line of credit provides us with the ability to issue up to $100 million in letters of credit.  While our issuance of 
letters of credit does not increase our borrowings outstanding under our line, it does reduce the amount available.  At 
December 31, 2007, we had outstanding letters of credit totaling $14.6 million, and had $470.4 million available under our 
unsecured line of credit.

On May 4, 2007, we issued $300 million in senior unsecured notes from our previously fi led universal shelf registration 
statement.  The public offering price of the notes was $299.0 million, and we received net proceeds of $297.0 million, 
after underwriter fees of $2.0 million.  The notes bear interest at 5.7% beginning May 4, 2007, and interest is payable 
each May 15 and November 15, beginning November 15, 2007.  The entire principal amount of the notes is due on May 
15, 2017.  The notes are redeemable at any time at our option, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to the 
principal amount and accrued interest of the notes being redeemed, plus a make-whole provision.  This provision is 
consistent with all of our previously issued unsecured note offerings.

On October 4, 2007, we entered into a $500 million credit agreement with an interest rate of LIBOR plus 0.5%.  The initial 
term of the credit agreement ends on October 4, 2010 and may be extended at our option for two one-year periods.  
Concurrently with the closing of this transaction, we entered into an interest rate swap, with a notional amount of $500 
million, to fi x the LIBOR interest rate at 4.74% per annum for fi ve years.  This swap has been formally designated as a 
hedge and is expected to be a highly effective cash fl ow hedge of the interest rate risk.  The resulting effective interest 
rate for the term loan is 5.24%.  

As part of the 2005 Summit merger we assumed certain debt and recorded a $33.9 million fair value adjustment which 
is being amortized over the respective debt terms.  As of December 31, 2007 $12.0 million of the fair value adjustment 
remained unamortized.  We recorded amortization of the fair value adjustment, which resulted in a decrease of 
interest expense, of $7.1 million, $7.6 million and $7.2 million during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, 
respectively.

During both 2007 and 2006, we repaid $200.0 million of maturing unsecured notes with effective interest rates of 5.6% 
and 6.8%, respectively.  During 2007, we refi nanced one of our maturing secured conventional mortgage notes, which 
had a balance of $6.8 million and a variable interest rate at 7.31%.  The new note was for a principal amount of $9.0 
million with a fi xed interest rate of 6.0% and matures on August 1, 2014.  We also repaid one conventional mortgage note 
during 2006 totaling $13.1 million, which had an interest rate of 7.6%.  

In connection with our partial sale of nine apartment communities to a joint venture during the year ended December 
31, 2006, as discussed in Note 8, “Investment in Joint Ventures,” three tax-exempt mortgage notes totaling $30.5 million 
were assumed by the joint venture. 

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the weighted average interest rate on our fl oating rate debt, which includes our 
unsecured line of credit, was 5.0% and 5.4%, respectively.

Our indebtedness, excluding our unsecured line of credit, had a weighted average maturity of 4.9 years.  Scheduled 
repayments on outstanding debt, including our line of credit, and the weighted average interest rate on maturing debt at 
December 31, 2007 are as follows:
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12.  DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS & HEDGING ACTIVITIES

We have entered into an interest rate swap agreement to reduce the impact of interest rate fl uctuations on our 
variable rate debt.  We have not entered into any interest rate hedge agreements for our fi xed-rate debt and do not 
enter into derivative transactions for trading or other speculative purposes.  The following table summarizes our 
interest rate swap agreement at December 31, 2007 (dollars in thousands):

We have determined our interest rate swap agreement qualifi es as an effective cash fl ow hedge under SFAS No. 
133, resulting in our recording the effective portion of cumulative changes in the fair value of the interest rate swap 
agreement in other comprehensive income.  Amounts recorded in other comprehensive income will be reclassifi ed 
into earnings in the periods in which earnings are affected by the hedged cash fl ow.  To adjust the interest rate 
swap agreement to its fair value, we recorded unrealized losses in other comprehensive income of approximately 
$16.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2007.  These amounts will be reclassifi ed into interest expense 
in conjunction with the periodic adjustment of the fl oating rates on the variable rate debt above.  The amounts 
reclassifi ed into earnings in 2007 resulted in a decrease in interest expense of approximately $0.3 million, whereas 
the estimated amount included in accumulated other comprehensive loss as of December 31, 2007, expected to be 
reclassifi ed into earnings within the next twelve months to offset the variability of cash fl ows of the hedged item 
during this period is a charge to interest expense of approximately $3.8 million. 

We measure, both at inception and on an on-going basis, the effectiveness of the qualifying cash fl ow hedge.  
During the year ended December 31, 2007, we recorded no other expense for hedge ineffectiveness, and we do not 
anticipate a material effect in the future.  The fair value of the interest rate swap agreement is included in other 
liabilities. 

Derivative fi nancial instruments expose us to credit risk in the event of non-performance by the counterparties under 
the terms of the interest rate swap agreements.  We minimized our credit risk on these transactions by dealing with 
major, creditworthy fi nancial institutions which have an AA or better credit rating by Standard & Poor’s Ratings 
Group.  As part of our on-going control procedures, we monitor the credit ratings of counterparties and our exposure 
to any single entity, thus minimizing credit risk concentration.  We believe the likelihood of realized losses from 
counterparty non-performance is remote.

13.   SHARE BASED COMPENSATION AND BENEFIT PLANS

Incentive Plan.  During 2002, our Board of Trust Managers adopted, and our shareholders approved, the 2002 Share 
Incentive Plan of Camden Property Trust (the “2002 Share Plan”).  Under the 2002 Share Plan, we may issue up to 
10% of the total of (i) the number of our common shares outstanding as of the plan date, February 5, 2002, plus (ii) the 
number of our common shares reserved for issuance upon conversion of securities convertible into or exchangeable 

(in millions)   
YEAR  AMOUNT WEIGHTED AVERAGE INTEREST RATE

2008 $ 200.6  4.8%
2009   198.1 5.0
2010   567.7 5.1
2011   248.2 6.5
2012   772.5 5.4
2013 and thereafter   841.0 5.4
Total $ 2,828.1 5.4%

Notional balance $ 500,000
Interest rate  5.24%
Maturity date  10/4/2012
Estimated liability fair value  ($16,123)
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for our common shares, plus (iii) the number of our common shares held as treasury shares.  Compensation awards 
that can be granted under the 2002 Share Plan include various forms of incentive awards, including incentive share 
options, non-qualifi ed share options and share awards.  The class of eligible persons that can receive grants of 
incentive awards under the 2002 Share Plan consists of key employees, consultants and non-employee trust managers 
as determined by the Compensation Committee of our Board of Trust Managers.  The 2002 Share Plan does not have a 
termination date; however, no incentive share options will be granted under this plan after February 5, 2012.  

We also have a non-compensatory option plan (the “1993 Share Plan”) that was amended in 2000 by our shareholders 
and Board of Trust Managers.  The terms and conditions of the 1993 Share Plan are similar to the 2002 Share Plan, 
except no incentive awards were able to be granted under the 1993 Share Plan after May 27, 2004.  As the terms and 
conditions of the 1993 Share Plan and the 2002 Share Plan are similar, when the term “plan” is used in the following 
discussion, we are referring to the plan from which the incentive award was granted.

Valuation Assumptions.  The weighted average fair value of options granted was $11.04 and $7.88 in 2007 and 2006, 
respectively.  We calculated the fair value of each option award on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option 
pricing model.  The following assumptions were used for each respective period:

Our computation of expected volatility for 2007 was based on the historical volatility of our common shares over a 
time period equal to the expected term of the option and ending on the grant date.  The interest rate for periods within 
the contractual life of the award is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant.  The expected 
dividend yield on our common shares is calculated using the annual dividends paid in prior year.  Our computation of 
expected life for 2007 was determined based on historical experience of similar awards, giving consideration to the 
contractual terms of the share-based awards. 

Options.  Options are exercisable, subject to the terms and conditions of the plan, in increments of 33.33% per year on 
each of the fi rst three anniversaries of the date of grant.  The plan provides that the exercise price of an option will be 
determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Trust Managers on the day of grant, and to date all options 
have been granted at an exercise price that equals the fair market value on the date of grant.  Options exercised during 
2007 were exercised at prices ranging from $24.88 to $43.90 per share.  At December 31, 2007, options outstanding were 
exercisable at prices ranging from $24.88 to $73.32 per share and had a weighted average remaining contractual life of 
5.3 years.  

The following table summarizes share options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2007:

year ended december 31,

2007 2006 2005
Expected volatility 17.1% 16.6% 18.0%
Risk-free interest rate 4.6% 4.4% 4.2%
Expected dividend yield 3.7% 4.1% 5.6%
Expected life (in years) 6 5 10

OUTSTANDING OPTIONS EXERCISABLE OPTIONS
RANGE OF EXERCISE PRICES  NUMBER WEIGHTED AVERAGE PRICE  NUMBER  WEIGHTED AVERAGE PRICE  REMAINING CONTRACTUAL LIFE

$24.88-$41.91 329,321  $ 35.73  329,321 $ 35.73  3.9
$42.90-$43.90  354,486  42.98  354,486  42.98 5.9
$44.00-$73.32  466,360  49.49 399,694  50.15  5.8

Total options 1,150,167  $ 43.54 1,083,501  $ 43.42  5.3
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The following are summaries of the activity of the 1993 Share Plan and the 2002 Share Plan for the three years ended 
December 31, 2007:

Employee Share Purchase Plan (“ESPP”).  We have established an ESPP for all active employees and offi cers who have 
completed one year of continuous service.  Participants may elect to purchase Camden common shares through payroll 
deductions and/or through semi-annual contributions.  At the end of each six-month offering period, each participant’s 
account balance is applied to acquire common shares at 85% of the market value, as defi ned, on the fi rst or last day of 
the offering period, whichever price is lower.  We currently use treasury shares to satisfy ESPP share requirements.  
Each participant must hold the shares purchased for nine months in order to receive the discount, and a participant may 
not purchase more than $25,000 in value of shares during any plan year, as defi ned.  The following table presents certain 
information related to our ESPP:

In January 2008, 7,632 shares were purchased under the ESPP related to the 2007 plan year.

Pro Forma Information for Periods Prior to the Adoption of SFAS 123(R).  The following table illustrates the effect on net 
income and net income per share had we applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 to all outstanding 
and unvested option grants and Employee Share Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) awards for the year ended December 31, 2005 

      SHARES AVAILABLE
2002 Share Plan FOR ISSUANCE OPTIONS AND SHARE AWARDS
        WEIGHTED AVERAGE  WEIGHTED AVERAGE  WEIGHTED AVERAGE
      2007 2007 2007 PRICE 2006 2006 PRICE 2005 2005 PRICE

Balance at January 1 3,218,685 1,498,911 $ 46.40 1,334,332 $ 42.72 1,042,623 $ 40.33
Options

Granted - -  - -  - 200,000  45.53
Exercised - (63,013)  41.71 (75,366)  35.50 (144,783)  37.20
Forfeited 2,836 (2,836)  39.99 (1,534)  36.87 (5,320)  36.87

  Net options 2,836 (65,849)   (76,900)   49,897  
Share awards

Granted (253,836) 253,836  77.22 270,658  65.24 258,322  46.99
Forfeited 64,940 (64,940)  64.55 (29,179)  52.63 (16,510)  44.74

  Net share awards (188,896) 188,896   241,479   241,812
Balance at December 31 3,032,625 1,621,958 $ 51.21 1,498,911 $ 46.40 1,334,332 $ 42.72
Exercisable options at December 31   908,925 $ 45.48 754,586 $ 44.84 586,103 $ 42.38
Vested share awards at December 31   498,772   354,850   168,691

            

1993 Share Plan OPTIONS AND SHARE AWARDS
       WEIGHTED AVERAGE  WEIGHTED AVERAGE  WEIGHTED AVERAGE
      2007 2007 PRICE 2006 2006 PRICE 2005 2005 PRICE

Balance at January 1 1,953,800 $ 31.99 2,045,730 $ 32.12  2,201,915 $ 31.57
Options              

Exercised (60,695)  33.37 (89,879)  32.24  (154,165)  32.17
Forfeited (6,986)  33.98 (1,086)  29.44  -  -

  Net options (67,681)   (90,965)    (154,165)   
Share awards             

Forfeited (130)  34.72 (965)  34.71  (2,020)  34.22
  Net share awards (130)   (965)    (2,020)   
Balance at December 31 1,885,989 $ 31.06 1,953,800 $ 31.99  2,045,730 $ 32.12
Exercisable options at December 31 174,576 $ 32.68 262,779 $ 32.78  245,454 $ 33.61
Vested share awards at December 31 1,337,273   1,317,733    1,283,225

  

              

            

  

  
              

  
  

    
            

  
    

  
  

    

year ended december 31,

2007 2006 2005
Shares purchased    20,534    30,352  25,840
Weighted average fair value of shares purchased $ 59.98 $ 73.61 $ 53.51
Expense recorded (millions) $ 0.2 $ 0.5 $ 0.2
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prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R):

Share Awards and Vesting.  At December 31, 2007, the unamortized value of previously issued unvested share awards 
was $22.3 million.  This amount will be amortized ratably over the next fi ve years.  On October 30, 2006, the Compensation 
Committee of the Board of Trust Managers of Camden Property Trust authorized the acceleration of vesting of all 
unvested share awards held by two members of senior management issued under the 2002 share incentive plan.  As 
a result of vesting acceleration, an aggregate of 76,542 share awards that otherwise would have vested from time to 
time over the next fi ve years became immediately exercisable.  All other terms and conditions applicable to such share 
awards remain in effect.  By accelerating the vesting of these share awards, we recognized a one-time expense in 2006 
of approximately $4.2 million.  This action will reduce compensation expense by an equivalent amount over the fi ve-year 
period these share awards would have originally vested.

Rabbi Trust.  We have established a rabbi trust for a select group of participants in which share awards granted under 
the share incentive plan and salary and other cash amounts earned may be deposited.  The rabbi trust is an irrevocable 
trust and no portion of the trust fund may be used for any purpose other than the delivery of those assets to the 
participants.  The assets held in the rabbi trust are subject to the claims of the Company’s general creditors in the event 
of bankruptcy or insolvency.  As of December 31, 2007, the rabbi trust is in use only for deferrals made prior to 2005, 
including bonuses related to service in 2004 but paid in 2005.  

We follow the provisions of EITF 97-14 “Accounting for Deferred Compensation Arrangements Where the Amounts Are 
Held in a Rabbi Trust and Invested” regarding the accounting for the rabbi trust.  As a result, the assets of the rabbi trust 
are consolidated into our fi nancial statements.  Granted share awards held by the rabbi trust are classifi ed in equity in a 
manner similar to the manner in which treasury stock is accounted.  Subsequent changes in the fair value of the shares 
are not recognized.  The deferred compensation obligation is classifi ed as an equity instrument and changes in the 
fair value of the amount owed to the participant are not recognized.  At December 31, 2007 and 2006, approximately 2.1 
million and 2.2 million share awards, respectively, were held in the rabbi trust.  Additionally, as of December 31, 2007 and 
2006, the rabbi trust was holding trading securities totaling $76.4 million and $65.8 million, respectively, which represents 
cash deferrals made by plan participants.  Market value fl uctuations on these trading securities are recognized in 
income in accordance with SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities,” and the 
fair value of the liability due to participants is adjusted accordingly.

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, $34.9 million and $33.7 million, respectively, was required to be paid to us by plan 
participants upon the withdrawal of any assets from the trust, and is included in “Accounts receivable-affi liates” in our 
consolidated fi nancial statements.  

Non-Qualifi ed Deferred Compensation Plan.  The Non-Qualifi ed Deferred Compensation Plan (the “Plan”), effective 
December 1, 2004, is an unfunded arrangement established and maintained primarily for the benefi t of a select 
group of participants.  Eligible participants shall commence participation in the Plan on the date the deferral election 
fi rst becomes effective.  We will credit to the participant’s account an amount equal to the amount designated as 
the participant’s deferral for the plan year as indicated in the participant’s deferral election.  Any modifi cation to or 

year ended december 31,

(in thousands, except per share amounts)   2005
Net income, as reported $ 199,086

Add: stock-based employee compensation expense included 
  in reported net income   9,558

Deduct: total stock-based employee compensation expense
  determined under fair value method for all awards   (9,764)
Pro forma net income $ 198,880
Net income per share:

Basic – as reported $ 3.83
Basic – pro forma   3.82
Diluted – as reported $ 3.58
Diluted – pro forma   3.58
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termination of the Plan will not reduce a participant’s right to any vested amounts already credited to his or her account.  
At December 31, 2007 and 2006, approximately 0.5 million and 0.4 million share awards, respectively, were held in the 
Plan.  Additionally, as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Plan was holding trading securities totaling $20.7 million and 
$15.6 million, respectively, which represents cash deferrals made by plan participants.  Market value fl uctuations on 
these trading securities are recognized in income in accordance with SFAS No. 115 and the fair value of the liability due 
to participants is adjusted accordingly.

401(k) Savings Plan.  We have a 401(k) savings plan, which is a voluntary defi ned contribution plan. Under the savings 
plan, every employee is eligible to participate beginning on the earlier of January 1, April 1, July 1 or October 1 
following the date the employee has completed six months of continuous service with us.  Each participant may make 
contributions to the savings plan by means of a pre-tax salary deferral, which may not be less than 1% nor more than 
60% of the participant’s compensation.  The federal tax code limits the annual amount of salary deferrals that may be 
made by any participant.  We may make matching contributions on the participant’s behalf up to a predetermined limit.  
The matching contributions made for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 were $1.2 million, $1.0 million 
and $1.2 million, respectively.  A participant’s salary deferral contribution will always be 100% vested and nonforfeitable.  
A participant will become vested in our matching contributions 33.33% after one year of service, 66.67% after two years 
of service and 100% after three years of service.  Administrative expenses under the savings plan were paid by us and 
were not material.

14.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

We perform property management services for properties owned by joint ventures in which we own an interest.  
Management fees earned on these properties amounted to $3.2 million, $2.4 million and $2.2 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.  See further discussion of our investments in joint ventures in Note 8, 
“Investment in Joint Ventures.”

In conjunction with our merger with Summit, we acquired employee notes receivable from nine former employees 
of Summit totaling $3.9 million.  Subsequent to the merger, fi ve employees repaid their loans totaling $1.8 million.  At 
December 31, 2007, the notes receivable had an outstanding balance of $2.0 million.  As of December 31, 2007, the 
employee notes receivable were 100% secured by Camden common shares.  Subsequent to December 31, 2007, one 
employee repaid all his notes outstanding totaling $1.6 million.

15.   FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Disclosure about the fair value of fi nancial instruments is based on pertinent information available to management as of 
December 31, 2007 and 2006.  Considerable judgment is necessary to interpret market data and develop estimated fair 
values.  Accordingly, the estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts we could obtain on 
disposition of the fi nancial instruments.  The use of different market assumptions and/or estimation methodologies may 
have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, management estimated the carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, restricted 
cash, accounts receivable, notes receivable, investments and liabilities under deferred compensation plans, 
accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities and distributions payable were at amounts that reasonably 
approximated their fair value.

Estimates of fair value of our notes payable are based upon interest rates available for the issuance of debt with similar 
terms and remaining maturities.  As of December 31, 2007, the outstanding balance of fi xed rate notes payable of 
$2,155.5 million had a fair value of $2,109.6 million.  As of December 31, 2006, the outstanding balance of fi xed rate notes 
payable of $2,059.6 million had a fair value of $2,050.2 million.  The fl oating rate notes payable balance at December 31, 
2007 and 2006 approximated fair value.  We report all derivative instruments at fair value in accordance with SFAS No. 
133.  See Note 12,”Derivative Instruments & Hedging Activities,” for further discussion.
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16.   NET CHANGE IN OPERATING ACCOUNTS

The effect of changes in the operating accounts on cash fl ows from operating activities is as follows:

17.   COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Construction Contracts.  As of December 31, 2007, we were obligated for approximately $73.4 million of additional 
expenditures on our recently completed projects and those currently under development.  We expect to fund a 
substantial portion of this amount with our unsecured line of credit.

Litigation. On December 19, 2003, the Camden Summit Partnership received notice of a demand for arbitration asserted 
by Bermello, Ajamil & Partners, Inc. (“Bermello”) against Coral Way, LLC for unpaid architectural fees.  In this demand, 
Bermello alleged they were entitled to an increased architectural fee as a result of an increase in the cost of the 
project.  Camden Summit Partnership asserted a counter-claim against Bermello for damages related to the cost to 
correct certain structural and other design defects, and delay damages.  On October 31, 2006, the parties entered 
into a settlement of Bermello’s claims for unpaid architectural fees and its claims were dismissed.  Camden Summit 
Partnership’s claims remain pending.  On February 22, 2007, the parties entered into a settlement of Camden Summit 
Partnership’s counter-claims for damages and its claims were released.

In September 2007, The Equal Rights Center fi led a lawsuit against us and one of our wholly-owned subsidiaries in the 
United States District Court for the District of Maryland.  This suit alleges various violations of the Fair Housing Act and 
the Americans with Disabilities Act by us in the design, construction, control, management and/or ownership of various 
multifamily properties.  The plaintiff seeks compensatory and punitive damages in unspecifi ed amounts, an award of 
attorneys’ fees and costs of suit, as well as preliminary and permanent injunctive relief that includes modifi cation of 
existing assets and prohibiting construction or sale of noncompliant units or complexes.  At this stage in the proceeding, 
it is not possible to predict or determine the outcome of the lawsuit, nor is it possible to estimate the amount of loss, if 
any, that would be associated with an adverse decision.

Other Contingencies.  In the ordinary course of our business, we issue letters of intent indicating a willingness to 
negotiate for acquisitions, dispositions or joint ventures and also enter into arrangements contemplating various 
transactions.  Such letters of intent and other arrangements are non-binding, and neither party is obligated to pursue 
negotiations unless and until a defi nitive contract is entered into by the parties.  Even if defi nitive contracts are entered 
into, the letters of intent relating to the purchase and sale of real property and resulting contracts generally contemplate 
such contracts will provide the purchaser with time to evaluate the property and conduct due diligence, during which 
periods the purchaser will have the ability to terminate the contracts without penalty or forfeiture of any deposit or 
earnest money.  There can be no assurance defi nitive contracts will be entered into with respect to any matter covered 
by letters of intent or we will consummate any transaction contemplated by any defi nitive contract.  Furthermore, due 
diligence periods for real property are frequently extended as needed.  An acquisition or sale of real property becomes 
probable at the time the due diligence period expires and the defi nitive contract has not been terminated.  We are then 
at risk under a real property acquisition contract, but only to the extent of any earnest money deposits associated with 
the contract, and are obligated to sell under a real property sales contract.

year ended december 31,

(in thousands) 2007 2006 2005
Decrease (increase) in assets:

Other assets, net $ 9,956 $ (2,667) $ (9,493)
Increase (decrease) in liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities     (19,657)    17,339  19,602
Accrued real estate taxes     1,855    (110)  (3,928)
Other liabilities     (5,267)    (13,226)  3,240

  Change in operating accounts $ (13,113) $ 1,336 $ 9,421
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We are currently in the due diligence period for certain acquisitions and dispositions and other various transactions.  
No assurance can be made we will be able to complete the negotiations or become satisfi ed with the outcome of the 
due diligence or otherwise complete the proposed transactions.

We are subject to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business.  These matters 
are generally covered by insurance.  While the resolution of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty, 
management believes the fi nal outcome of such matters will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated 
fi nancial statements.

Lease Commitments.  At December 31, 2007, we had long-term leases covering certain land, offi ce facilities, and 
equipment.  Rental expense totaled $3.0 million, $2.9 million and $2.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 
2006 and 2005, respectively.  Minimum annual rental commitments for the years ending December 31, 2008 through 
2012 are $2.5 million, $2.3 million, $2.3 million, $2.2 million and $1.8 million, respectively, and $5.1 million in the aggregate 
thereafter.

Investments in Joint Ventures.  We have entered into, and may continue in the future to enter into, joint ventures 
(including limited liability companies) or partnerships through which we would own an indirect economic interest in less 
than 100% of the community or communities owned directly by the joint venture or partnership.  Our decision whether to 
hold the entire interest in an apartment community ourselves, or to have an indirect interest in the community through 
a joint venture or partnership is based on a variety of factors and considerations, including: (i) our projection, in some 
circumstances, we will achieve higher returns on our invested capital or reduce our risk if a joint venture or partnership 
vehicle is used; (ii) our desire to diversify our portfolio of communities by market; (iii) our desire at times to preserve 
our capital resources to maintain liquidity or balance sheet strength; and (iv)  the economic and tax terms required 
by a seller of land or of a community, who may prefer or who may require less payment if the land or community is 
contributed to a joint venture or partnership.  Investments in joint ventures or partnerships are not limited to a specifi ed 
percentage of our assets.  Each joint venture or partnership agreement is individually negotiated, and our ability to 
operate and/or dispose of a community in our sole discretion may be limited to varying degrees depending on the terms 
of the joint venture or partnership agreement.

We have formed the Camden Multifamily Value Add Fund, L.P., (the “Fund”), a discretionary investment vehicle to make 
direct and indirect investments in multifamily real estate throughout the United States, primarily through acquisitions 
of operating properties and certain land parcels which we will contribute to the Fund for development.  The Fund will 
serve, until the earlier of (i) four years from the date of the fi nal closing of the Fund or (ii) such time as 90% of the Fund’s 
committed capital is invested, as the exclusive vehicle through which we will acquire fully-developed multifamily 
properties, subject to certain exceptions.  These exceptions include properties acquired in tax-deferred transactions, 
follow-on investments made with respect to prior investments, signifi cant transactions which include the issuance 
of our securities, signifi cant individual asset and portfolio acquisitions, signifi cant merger and acquisition activities, 
acquisitions which are inadvisable or inappropriate for the Fund, transactions with our existing ventures, contributions 
or sales of properties to or entities in which we remain an investor and transactions approved by the Fund’s advisory 
board.  The Fund will not restrict our development activities and will terminate after a term of eight years from the fi nal 
closing, subject to two one-year extensions.  As of December 31, 2007, we have acquired two communities with the 
intent of being owned by the Fund, but which are currently consolidated and included in our operating results. We are 
currently targeting acquisitions for the Fund where value creation opportunities are present through one or more of the 
following: redevelopment activities, market cycle opportunities or improved property operations.  We expect the Fund 
to have equity commitments of up to $300 million and the ability to employ leverage through debt fi nancings up to 70% 
on a stabilized portfolio basis, which would enable the Fund to invest up to approximately $1 billion.  One of our wholly-
owned subsidiaries is the general partner of the Fund, and we have committed 20% of the total equity of the Fund, up to 
$60 million.  We have received commitments from an unaffi liated investor of $150 million as of December 31, 2007.  We 
expect the fi nal closing of the Fund to occur during 2008.  There can be no assurance as to the timing of such closing, 
the size or investment performance of the Fund.
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Employment Agreements.  At December 31, 2007, we had employment agreements with fi ve of our senior offi cers, the 
terms of which expire at various times through August 20, 2008.  Such agreements provide for minimum salary levels, 
as well as various incentive compensation arrangements, which are payable based on the attainment of specifi c 
goals.  The agreements also provide for severance payments plus a gross-up payment if certain situations occur, such 
as termination without cause or a change of control.  In the case of three of the agreements, the severance payment 
equals one times the respective current salary base in the case of termination without cause and 2.99 times the 
respective average annual compensation over the previous three fi scal years in the case of change of control.  In the 
case of the other two agreements, the severance payment generally equals 2.99 times the respective average annual 
compensation over the previous three fi scal years in connection with, among other things, a termination without cause 
or a change of control, and the offi cer would be entitled to receive continuation and vesting of certain benefi ts in the 
case of such termination.

18.   POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

At the effective date of the Summit merger, we entered into a separation agreement with two former Summit 
employees who are now on our Board of Trust Managers.  Pursuant to the respective separation agreements, each of 
these individuals resigned as an offi cer and director of Summit and all entities related to Summit, and the respective 
employment agreement between Summit and each executive was terminated.  Additionally, under the separation 
agreements, each of the executives received payments totaling $1.0 million and other benefi ts approximately equivalent 
to those he was entitled to receive upon termination of employment pursuant to his employment agreement with Summit.  
Other continuing benefi ts received by these former employees included postretirement benefi ts including offi ce space 
and medical benefi ts.  

Participants in the postretirement plan contribute to the cost of the benefi ts.  Our contribution is limited to amounts 
between $198 and $824 per month per participant or participant and dependents, based upon the terms as defi ned 
in each separation agreement.  For measurement purposes, a 15.0% annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of 
covered health care claims was assumed; the rate was assumed to decrease until 2012 at which point the annual rate 
would be 5.0% and remain at that level thereafter.     

As of the measurement date (December 31), the status of the Company’s defi ned postretirement benefi t plan was as 
follows:

The weighted average discount rate used to determine the value of accumulated postretirement benefi t cost for the 
year was 5.62%.  This discount rate was based upon the High Quality Corporate Bond rate as reported in the Wall Street 
Journal on December 31, 2005.  As of December 31, 2007, we had accrued for the $3.2 million associated with these 
postretirement liabilities.  We paid $0.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2007.  During 2008, we expect to pay 
approximately $0.2 million to the plan.  

(in thousands) 2007 2006
Postretirement benefi t obligation, beginning of year $ 3,202 $ 3,208
Interest cost     176    176
Actuarial (gain) loss     -    18
Benefi ts paid     (216)    (200)

Net periodic postretirement benefi t cost, end of year $ 3,162 $ 3,202



The benefi ts expected to be paid in each of the next fi ve fi scal years, and in the aggregate for the fi ve fi scal years 
thereafter are as follows:

A 1% change in assumed health care cost trend rates has no signifi cant effect on the interest cost component of 
net periodic postretirement health care costs.  A 1% increase or decrease in assumed health care cost trend rates 
would increase or decrease the accumulated postretirement benefi t obligation by approximately $0.4 million.  

19.  QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

Summarized quarterly fi nancial data, which has been adjusted for discontinued operations as discussed in Note 7, 
“Property Acquisitions, Dispositions, and Assets Held for Sale,” for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, is 
as follows:

year beginning january 1,

(in thousands) ESTIMATED BENEFIT PAYMENT

2008        $ 225
2009         233
2010         242
2011         244
2012         246
Thereafter      1,356

Total        2,546

(in thousands, except per share amounts) FIRST SECOND THIRD FOURTH TOTAL

2007:
Revenues $ 154,060 $ 160,626 $ 160,058 $ 159,338 $ 634,082
Net income  13,037  42,592  11,852  80,976  148,457
Net income per share - basic   0.22  0.72(a)  0.20  1.43(b)  2.55
Net income per share - diluted   0.22  0.71(a)  0.20  1.41(b)  2.51
2006:
Revenues $ 144,431 $ 153,707 $ 160,501 $ 157,467 $ 616,106
Net income  41,443  34,582  125,457  31,364  232,846
Net income per share - basic   0.76(c)  0.62(d)  2.15(e)  0.54(f)  4.11
Net income per share - diluted   0.75(c)  0.61(d)  2.07(e)  0.53(f)  3.96
           

(a) Includes a $30,976, or $0.53 basic and $0.52 diluted per share, impact related to the gain on sale of discontinued operations.   
(b) Includes a $75,306, or $1.33 basic and $1.31 diluted per share, impact related to the gain on sale of discontinued operations.  
(c) Includes a $27,392, or $0.50 basic and $0.49 diluted per share, impact related to the gain on sale of discontinued operations, as well as a $1,763, or 

$0.03 basic and  diluted per share, impact related to the gain on sale of joint venture properties.   
(d) Includes a $23,652, or $0.43 basic and $0.42 diluted per share, impact related to the gain on sale of discontinued operations.
(e) Includes a $91,581, or $1.57 basic and $1.50 diluted per share, impact related to the gain on sale of operating properties, as well as a $8,842, or $0.15 

basic and $0.14 diluted per share, impact related to the gain on sale of discontinued operations, and a $1,085, or $0.02 basic and diluted per share, 
impact related to the gain on sale of joint venture properties.   

(f) Includes a $18,937, or $0.32 basic and diluted per share, impact related to the gain on sale of discontinued operations.   

(in thousands, except per share amounts)
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The following table provides selected fi nancial data relating to our historical fi nancial condition and results of operations 
as of and for each of the years ending December 31, 2003 through 2007.  This data should be read in conjunction with 
Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the consolidated 
fi nancial statements and related notes.  Prior year amounts have been restated for amounts classifi ed as discontinued 
operations.

year ended december 31,

(in thousands, except per share amounts and property data) 2007 2006 2005(d) 2004 2003
Operating Data
Total property revenues $ 609,080 $ 580,576 $ 504,061 $ 365,261 $ 348,209
Total property expenses     227,306    220,163    193,792    147,621    138,333
Total non-property income     25,002    35,530    50,912    27,884    12,066
Total other expenses     344,996    350,850    343,155    211,236    194,859
Income from continuing operations     47,078    125,016    151,526    22,767    18,329
Net income    148,457    232,846    199,086    41,341    29,430

Income from continuing operations per share
Basic   $ 0.81 $ 2.21 $ 2.91 $ 0.55 $ 0.47
Diluted       0.80    2.14    2.72    0.54    0.44

Net income per share
Basic   $ 2.55 $ 4.11 $ 3.83 $ 1.00 $ 0.75
Diluted       2.51    3.96    3.58    0.98    0.71

Distributions declared per common share $ 2.76 $ 2.64 $ 2.54 $ 2.54 $ 2.54

Balance Sheet Data (at end of year)
Real estate assets $ 5,527,403 $ 5,141,467 $ 5,039,007 $ 3,159,077 $ 3,099,856
Total assets     4,890,760    4,586,050    4,487,799    2,629,364    2,625,561
Notes payable     2,828,095    2,330,976    2,633,091    1,576,405    1,509,677
Minority interests     219,952    223,511    221,023    159,567    196,385
Shareholders’ equity     1,531,313    1,734,356    1,370,903    738,515    784,885

Other Data
Cash fl ows provided by (used in):

Operating activities $ 223,106 $ 231,569 $ 200,845 $ 156,997 $ 144,703
Investing activities     (346,798)    (52,067)    (207,561)    (65,321)    (94,386)
Financing activities     123,555    (180,044)    6,039    (92,780)    (47,365)

Funds from operations – diluted (a)     227,153    237,790    195,290    143,669    135,699

Property Data
Number of operating properties (at end 

of  year) (b)
Number of operating properties (at end 

 (b)
Number of operating properties (at end 

    182    186    191    144    144
Number of operating apartment homes (at end 

of year) (b)
Number of operating apartment homes (at end 

 (b)
Number of operating apartment homes (at end 

    63,085    63,843    65,580    51,456    51,344
Number of operating apartment homes (weighted 

average) (b)(c)
Number of operating apartment homes (weighted 

 (b)(c)
Number of operating apartment homes (weighted 

    53,132    55,850    55,056    47,118    46,382
Weighted average monthly total property 

revenue per apartment home $ 1,005 $ 951 $ 871 $ 777 $ 754
Properties under development (at end of period)     11    11    9    3    2

(a) Management considers FFO to be an appropriate measure of the fi nancial performance of an equity REIT.  The National Association of Real Estate    
Investment Trusts (“NAREIT”) currently defi nes FFO as net income (computed in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the    
United States of America (“GAAP”)), excluding gains (or losses) associated with the sale of previously depreciated operating properties, real estate   
depreciation and amortization, and adjustments for unconsolidated joint ventures.  Our calculation of diluted FFO also assumes conversion of all    
potentially dilutive securities, including minority interests, which are convertible into common shares.  We consider FFO to be an appropriate    
supplemental measure of operating performance because, by excluding gains or losses on dispositions of operating properties and excluding    
depreciation, FFO can help one compare the operating performance of a company’s real estate between periods or as compared to different companies.

(b) Includes discontinued operations.
(c) Excludes apartment homes owned in joint ventures.
(d) The 2005 results include the operations of Summit Properties Inc. subsequent to February 28, 2005.

COMPARATIVE SUMMARY OF SELECTED FINANCIAL AND PROPERTY DATA
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